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General MeetinG of shareholders

the annual general meeting of PKC group oyj will be 

held on thursday 27 march 2008, at 4.00 p.m., at the 

parent company’s offices in Kempele, at the address 

vihikari 10.

a shareholder is entitled to attend the meeting if 

he or she is listed as a shareholder in the company’s 

shareholder register at finnish Central Securities 

depository ltd, on the record date 17 march 2008  

and confirms his or her attendance by 4.00 p.m. on  

19 march 2008. 

notice of the annual general meeting was given in a 

Stock exchange announcement and in the helsingin 

Sanomat and Kaleva newspapers.

distribution of dividends

the Board of directors proposes that a dividend of eur 

0.45 per share be paid for the financial year 2007. the 

record date for dividends is 1 april 2008. the payment 

date for dividends is 8 april 2008.

financial reports for 2008 

PKC group oyj will publish its financial reports for 

2008 as follows:

interim report 1–3/2008  

on friday 18 april 2008 at 8.15 a.m.

interim report 1–6/2008  

on tuesday 15 July 2008 at 8.15 a.m.

interim report 1–9/2008  

on tuesday 21 october 2008 at 8.15 a.m.

the Interim reports and Stock exchange Bulletins 

will be published in finnish and in english on the 

company’s website at www.pkcgroup.com. the 

company’s annual reports and Interim reports will 

also be available in ‘Pdf’ format on the company’s 

website. 

chanGe of address

Shareholders are kindly requested to notify the book-

entry register where their book-entries are kept of any 

changes in their contact information.

INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS
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pKc Group

the PKC group offers design and contract 

manufacturing services for wiring harnesses, 

cabling and electronics. the group’s products and 

services are delivered mainly to the automotive, 

telecommunications and electronics industries. the 

group has production facilities in finland, Brazil, 

China, mexico, estonia and russia, and employs 

about 5,300 people. the net sales of PKC group oyj 

amounted to eur 288.6 million in 2007. 

strenGths

•	 Active	and	close	co-operation	with	customers	and	

 our ability to create added value

•	 Long-term	customer	relationships	based	on	trust	

•	 Our	worldwide	competence	and	long	experience	in	

 operating in lower-cost countries 

•	 Cost-efficient	and	flexible	production	network	

 that operates according to consistent quality and 

 environmental standards.

history

•	 In	1969,	Pohjolan	Kaapeli	Oy,	a	subsidiary	of	

 oy nokia ab, established a wiring harness 

 production facility in Kempele

•	 In	the	early	1990s,	the	company	began	co-operation	

 with subcontractors in estonia and russia

•	 In	1994,	PK	Cables	Oy	was	established,	and	the	

 company was listed on the helsinki Stock exchange 

 in 1997 as the first company from northern finland

•	 At	the	end	of	the	1990s,	the	Brazilian	factory	was	

 opened and the group acquired the electronics 

 business

•	 In	the	2000s,	the	Group	has	grown	vigorously	in	

 russia, estonia and South america

•	 In	recent	years,	the	operations	in	North	America	

 and China have strengthened the PKC group’s 

 global development.

PKC IN BRIEF

Group Key fiGures 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

     

net sales, eur million 288.6 228.9 198.8 177.7 146.0

operating profit, eur million 28.2 24.2 26.7 20.8 18.4

Profit before taxes, eur million 25.6 22.8 27.3 19.6 18.1

return on investment (roI), %  23.4 24.1 32.3 28.6 36.7

equity ratio, % 47.2 48.0  55.6 44.2 56.9

gross capital expenditure, eur million 10.8 20.0 11.4 13.3 10.2

earnings per share, diluted, eur 0.98 0.87 1.06 0.75 0.73

dividend per share, eur  0.45 0.45 0.45 0.20 0.83

*) Board’s proposal      

(* 
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8 REvIEw By THE PRESIDENT AND CEO

for the PKC group, 2007 was a time of record 

growth. deliveries by our wiring harnesses and 

electronics businesses and net sales from them 

grew by more than a fourth. there was continued 

strong demand for capital goods in our main market 

areas. this was reflected in our customers’ increased 

production volumes. Sales to the heavy vehicle 

industry were at their highest level ever. demand 

for industrial electronics was boosted both by the 

favourable business cycle and by the rise in the 

price of energy, which led to higher demand for 

energy saving products and solutions. the electronics 

product development business grew significantly, 

strengthening its share of the business segment’s 

net sales. Cost-effective production and logistics 

contributed to a further improvement in profitability 

of the electronics business.

we succeeded in meeting the increased demand 

by expanding our operations and by investing in 

production capacity, particularly at the new units in 

Pskov, russia, and Suzhou, China. the reorganisation 

and development of operations in north america 

has called for more work and time than anticipated. 
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during 2008, we will see the integration to completion 

and begin the manufacture of new product groups 

in mexico. By means of these development steps, we 

believe that we will achieve good results. In global 

competitive bidding, our operations in north america 

are of great strategic importance.

during the review period, we decided to begin 

electronics production in China. we manufactured the 

first test batches of electronics products towards the 

end of the year, and we will start series production at 

the beginning of 2008. the cost-effectiveness of russia 

and China combined with finland’s flexibility and 

strong product development know-how will make it 

possible for the business to grow profitably in coming 

years as well.

the trend towards consolidation in our customer 

industries continued in the manner we forecast, and 

we believe this trend will continue ahead. for us, this 

is both a challenge and an opportunity. Changes in 

ways of operating and requirements in the industry 

have been fast-paced during the 2000s. our major 

competitors in wiring harness deliveries to the 

commercial vehicle industry are the world’s largest 

automotive industry contract manufacturers and 

system suppliers, whereas well towards the end of the 

1990s, we competed with small local players.  

the challenges before us are the uncertain outlook 

for the world economy, the raw materials price trend 

and the rise in the level of costs in developing regions. 

In order to be able to meet these challenges and 

serve our customers better time after time, we must 

continually develop our methods and our efficiency. 

our customers need partners who are capable of 

worldwide service. In line with our strategy, we have 

expanded our operations in order to support our 

customers’ changing needs. our long experience 

opens up opportunities for us as more and more of 

our potential customers expand their production to 

russia’s growing markets. In future years too, we must 

stay on the forefront of development in new and 

growing market areas. 

at the close of a successful year, we can observe that 

our strategy has worked. I wish to express my thanks 

for achieving excellent results to our good customers 

of long standing, our partners in cooperation, our 

shareholders and all our staff.  we are well poised to 

push ahead.

mika Kari



10



11

our group’s vision is to be a customer-oriented, 

proactive contract manufacturer and product 

development partner as well as a cost-competitive, 

high-quality and flexible partner in co-operation. In 

practice, this means that we research and develop the 

products and services that we offer to our customers. 

we refine and improve our products and actively seek 

solutions that will ensure the competitiveness of our 

products and services in the future. the basic idea 

behind our operations is to produce as much added 

value as possible for our customers. 

the Group’s strategic objectives

PKC’s objective is to grow profitably. we seek 

growth by expanding our customer relationships and 

attracting new customers both in our current and in 

new market areas. 

we develop our operations in anticipation of customer 

needs and meet customers’ expectations worldwide 

with the help of our extensive production network. 

we invest in the development of services, products and 

production methods in order to improve cost-efficiency 

and customer satisfaction.

we ensure our own competitiveness with versatile 

expertise and systematic operating models. By 

developing all of our functions and their mutual 

cooperation, we create a sustainable basis for 

successful business operations. 

we reinforce our personnel’s competence and invest in 

management and strategic planning. 

In order to ensure the realisation of the group’s 

strategic objectives, we utilise our core strengths. 

our values support operations

the PKC group’s values – commitment, quality, 

profitability and co-operation – create the basis for all 

operations. 

In line with our values, we commit to promises made 

to customers, partners in co-operation and co-workers. 

we acknowledge our responsibility for the quality 

of our services and aspire to together make our 

operations more efficient and faultless. we take 

responsibility for our operating environment and strive 

to minimise harm caused to the environment. 

we run profitable and productive operations, use 

capital efficiently and maintain the solvency of our 

company at a good level. our openness, appreciation 

of each other and equal treatment lay the foundation 

for good co-operation. 

STRATEGIC OUTLINES

values 

the PKC group’s 

common values lay the 

basis for all operations.

CommItment QualIty

ProfItaBIlIty Co-oPeratIon
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WirinG harnesses business

the wiring harnesses business designs, develops 

and manufactures wiring harnesses and cabling for 

customers in the automotive, telecommunications and 

electronics industries. In 2007, the wiring harnesses 

business accounted for 79.7% of consolidated net sales.

the year 2007 was a year of growth in the wiring 

harnesses business. measures for the improvement of 

quality, delivery accuracy and efficiency, undertaken 

in accordance with strategy, strengthened our position 

as a significant partner to the automotive industry. 

we responded to stiff price competition by actively 

managing costs. 

Worldwide production network

as planned, we expanded our facility in Pskov, russia, 

where we built extra production capacity and also started 

the manufacture of new products. we will continue to 

expand the Pskov facility in the future in order to serve 

also customers that operate in the russian market.

at the Suzhou facility in China, we focused on 

products for telecommunications and automation 

industry’s customers, and began manufacturing wiring 

harnesses for the automotive industry at the end 

of the year. the Suzhou facility will primarily serve 

customers operating in asian markets.

the rise in costs in developing areas posed challenges 

for the profitability of the business. we managed to 

contain the effects of this by increasing the efficiency 

and volume of production. with the aim of ensuring 

the flexibility of our production capacity, we also 

began cooperation with subcontractors in lithuania 

and russia for the production of wiring harnesses. 

the integration of the north american operations into 

the group’s production network is still ongoing. we 

will continue to integrate and develop these operations 

by deploying the group’s operations control system in 

mexico as well. By enhancing quality and expertise we 

will ensure that the start-up of the manufacture of new 

products occurs smoothly and quickly. 

tailored solutions 
With quality and fleXibility

a wiring harness is a unit assembled  

from wires, connectors and housings.  

a single wiring harness may contain  

up to several kilometres of wires.
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our operations in Brazil are well-established, with 

production volumes increasing as a result of the 

country’s strong economic development. the Brazilian 

unit has devoted resources to the development of 

expertise and the flexibility of operations, in particular. 

this enables us to take customers’ requirements into 

consideration as comprehensively as possible.

operating environment

the world market prices of raw materials, which 

remained high, had a substantial impact on the prices 

of components. the copper price clauses negotiated in 

supplier and customer contracts and the hedging of risks 

related to raw materials have helped us lessen the impact 

of market price fluctuations on profitability. we have also 

strengthened efforts to seek alternative components and 

to bolster sourcing operations in asia. By developing our 

forecast methods, we improved the planning of materials 

procurements and production capacity.

we actively monitor and analyse markets, the activities 

of our competitors and the needs of our customers. 

our aim is to expand our business operations in the 

vigorously growing russian vehicle market, a goal 

that is supported by our long experience in operating 

in russia and the strong growth of the region’s 

automotive industry. In order to strengthen our 

competitive position, we will reinforce our current 

business units, explore new operating areas and study 

the options for expanding our design services.

the wiring harnesses business’s strengths: 

•	 Solid	experience	in	the	industry

•	 Long-term	customer	relationships	with	the	

 automotive industry’s leading manufacturers

•	 The	volumes	of	a	large	company	provided	with	the	

 flexibility of a small one

•	 Worldwide	production	network	close	to	the	

 customers

•	 Skilled	and	committed	personnel

versatile WirinG harnesses
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electronics business

the electronics business offers electronics product 

development, design and manufacturing services to 

the telecommunications, electronics and automotive 

industries. In 2007, the electronics business accounted 

for 20.3 % of consolidated net sales.

for the electronics business, the year 2007 was marked 

by strong growth. aiming to improve our competitive 

position, we increased our resources in product 

development and design, enhanced our production 

technology and stepped up our production capacity. 

comprehensive services

the share of contract design services in the 

business grew and deliveries to customers in the 

telecommunications and industrial electronics sectors 

increased. thanks to our strong expertise, we are able 

to offer a more comprehensive product development 

and design services package to complement our cost-

efficient manufacturing services. this has proven to be  

a considerable competitive edge. 

the key customers of our electronics business increased 

their operations especially in asia. Since we strive to offer 

customers a comprehensive design and manufacturing 

network, we launched electronics manufacturing 

operations in Suzhou, China, in accordance with our 

growth strategy. we successfully manufactured the first 

test batches in december and will start serial production 

early in 2008. the Chinese unit’s role in the manufacture of 

volume products will be significant in the future, as we are 

also seeking new customer relationships in asian markets.

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

efficient and accurate developMent, 
desiGn and Manufacture 
of electronics products

electronic manufacturing services are referred  

to with the abbreviation emS, while odm refers  

to original design manufacturing. 
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our facility in Kostomuksha, russia, also manufactures 

volume products. In finland, we are focusing on design 

and product development, as well as on demanding 

manufacturing operations requiring flexibility and 

short delivery times. our comprehensive design and 

manufacturing network enables us to offer a versatile 

range of services.

operating environment

the more international nature of our competition 

has posed its own challenges. the downward trend 

in the prices of products and services entails cost-

efficient ways of working. we have begun materials 

and components sourcing operations in asia. new and 

efficient production equipment and efficient logistics 

enable quick and smooth deliveries to customers. 

Both our customers and competitors have implemented 

several structural reorganisation measures, which 

means we are competing with ever-larger operators. 

we will guarantee the continuation of tight 

co-operation based on trust by offering customers 

added value during the different stages of a product’s 

life cycle. 

the electronics business’s strengths:

•	 Innovative	product	development	operations

•	 High-quality	and	reliable	service	

•	 Long-term	customer	relationships

•	 Design,	product	development	and	manufacturing	

 services according to the customer’s requirements

•	 Skilled	and	committed	personnel

diversified custoMer base
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PERSONNEL

personnel by country at the end 
of 2007

Skilled and committed employees ensure the 

realisation and success of PKC group’s business 

strategy. our people are our chief resource.

strengthening know-how

we develop our personnel’s know-how in accordance 

with the requirements of the operating environment 

and we make sure that our employees have the 

necessary knowledge and skills. our objective is 

satisfied and professionally skilled staff, who are the 

cornerstone of business growth.

satisfaction drives results

we aim for a high degree of job satisfaction and low 

staff turnover by setting personal challenges and 

targets for our personnel. By means of our rewarding 

incentive system, we motivate our people to achieve 

these targets. we develop a positive workplace 

atmosphere through efficient internal communications 

and by strengthening supervisor skills.

We develop the work environment

we develop job well-being and the organisation’s 

ways of working, and invest in a smoothly functioning 

work environment in order to enhance our employees’ 

contentment. In an annual group-wide personnel 

survey, we collect information on the personnel’s 

wishes and needs. By seeing to factors such as an 

ergonomic work environment and by encouraging our 

employees to exercise in their breaks and in their free 

time, we cut down sickness absences.

personnel at the end of the year
2003–2007

The Group’s personnel strength also grew strongly during 2007. In September, PKC Group’s payroll 

topped 5,000 employees, and at the end of the year there were a total of 5,311 employees. 
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Quality is one of our group’s core values. we operate 

in compliance with the international ISo 9001 and 

ISo 14001 quality and environmental standards and 

our wiring harnesses business also complies with the 

strict ISo/tS 16949 quality standard for the automotive 

industry. 

quality management

our objective is a satisfied customer, and therefore 

we pay a great deal of attention to the continuous 

improvement of our operations. Customer satisfaction 

surveys serve as important indicators for future 

actions. we steer our operations in a more efficient 

direction based on the feedback and demands we 

receive. In order to ensure quality, we utilise the best 

operating models throughout the group.

we place high quality requirements and targets for all 

of our operations. using operational benchmarks, we 

direct our day-to-day operations towards profitable 

growth. Quality training enables us to create the 

capabilities for the continuous improvement of 

processes and product quality. 

all of our business units employ quality management 

systems that comply with standards. we systematically 

enhance the quality of products and processes, and 

each and every one of our employees participates 

in the development of operations. we also actively 

evaluate and develop our co-operation with suppliers.  

responsibility for the environment

we support sustainable development in our 

environment. In accordance with our environmental 

programmes, we measure, monitor and constantly 

reduce harmful effects caused to the environment 

by our operations. we monitor the success of our 

environmental objectives using quantitative and 

financial indicators. 

each of our employees bears responsibility for 

recycling, and we also take environmental effects into 

consideration when procuring materials. moreover, we 

have set clear requirements for our suppliers in order 

to minimise environmental impacts. 

pKc’s valid quality and environmental certificates 

at the end of 2007:

•	 Kempele (finland)

 ISo 9001, ISo/tS 16949, ISo 14001

•	 raahe (finland)

 ISo 9001, ISo 14001

•	 Keila and haapsalu (estonia)

 ISo 9001, ISo/tS 16949, ISo 14001

•	 Kostomuksha (russia), wiring harnesses

 ISo 9001, ISo/tS 16949, ISo 14001

•	 Kostomuksha (russia), electronics

 ISo 9001, ISo 14001  

•	 curitiba (Brazil)

 ISo 9001, ISo/tS 16949, ISo 14001

•	 suzhou (China), wiring harnesses

 ISo14001, 

 ISo/tS 16949 (granted a ”letter of Conformance”)

•	 pskov (russia)

 ISo14001 

•	 nogales (mexico)

 ISo9001, ISo/tS 16949 

•	 toronto (Canada)

 ISo/tS 16949. 

QUALITy AND THE ENvIRONMENT 
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REPORT By THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

operating environment and deliveries 

the group’s wiring harnesses deliveries grew substantially in 

europe and the South america compared with the previous 

year, thanks to growth in the commercial vehicles market. 

the deliveries of wiring harnesses for other vehicles enjoyed a 

favourable trend. the volume of deliveries in north america was 

somewhat smaller than expected. the sales of wiring harnesses 

and cabling to the telecommunications and automation 

industries remained at the previous year’s level but took place 

largely in the latter part of the year, with final-quarter sales 

being substantially higher than in the previous year.

the growth of electronics contract design and manufacturing 

exceeded earlier expectations. Investments made by the 

company’s telecommunications customers led to an increase in 

the volume of design services and demand from the industrial 

electronics sector also remained strong. aiming to improve our 

competitive position, we increased our resources in product 

development and design, enhanced our production technology 

and stepped up our production capacity. the share of contract 

design in our electronics business grew. thanks to our strong 

product development expertise, we were able to offer a more 

comprehensive design services package in addition to our cost-

efficient materials and manufacturing services. 

In line with our growth strategy, we launched electronics 

manufacturing operations in Suzhou, China. the facility 

in China will play a crucial role in the future as a unit 

manufacturing volume products, for in addition to serving 

our existing customers, we are also seeking new customer 

relationships in the asian markets. In asia, we began global 

materials and components sourcing operations which we expect 

will boost our competitiveness in the future.

net sales and financial performance

Consolidated net sales in the financial year totalled eur 288.6 

million (228.9 million), increasing by 26.1% on the previous year. 

Consolidated operating profit totalled eur 28.2 million (24.2 

million), accounting for 9.8% of net sales (10.6%). depreciation 

amounted to eur 7.6 million (6.3 million). financial income and 

expenses were eur 2.5 million negative (1.5 million negative). 

Profit before taxes was eur 25.6 million (22.8 million). Profit 

for the financial year totalled eur 17.6 million (15.7 million). 

diluted earnings per share were eur 0.98 (0.87).

net sales generated by the wiring harnesses business during 

the report year rose by 26.3% to eur 230.0 million (182.0 

million). the segment’s share of consolidated net sales was 

79.7% (79.5%). the wiring harnesses business reported an 

operating profit of eur 18.7 million (17.9 million), or 8.2% of 

the segment’s net sales (9.8%).

the electronics business segment saw its net sales increase by 

25.0% to eur 58.6 million (46.9 million), accounting for 20.3% 

net sales,  eur million

operatinG profit, eur million

earninGs per share (eps), 

eur
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of consolidated net sales (20.5%). the electronics business 

posted an operating profit of eur 9.4 million (6.4 million),  

or 16.1% of the segment’s net sales (13.5%).

Consolidated net sales enjoyed favourable growth in both 

business areas and profitability remained at a good level. the 

world market prices of raw materials maintained their high 

level. we used derivative instruments to hedge part of our 

future copper requirements. the earnings trend of the north 

american operations fell below expectations. the electronics 

business’s new production unit in China was completed 

according to timetable and it manufactured its first products in 

december. In russia, the production volume of the Pskov factory 

was increased as planned, and production in the extension to 

the factory will be started early this year.   

balance sheet and financing

Consolidated total assets at 31 december 2007 stood at eur 

175.9 million (151.0 million). Interest-bearing liabilities totalled 

eur 55.7 million at the close of the report year (45.0 million). the 

group’s equity ratio was 47.2% (48.0%). net liabilities totalled 

eur 45.3 million (37.0 million) and gearing was 54.5% (50.9%).

Inventories amounted to eur 47.0 million (36.6 million). 

Current receivables totalled eur 70.2 million (62.7 million). 

Cash flows after investing activities during the period in review 

were eur 0.2 million (8.7 million negative). Cash in hand and 

at bank amounted to eur 10.4 million (8.1 million). In order to 

ensure financing flexibility, PKC has available credit facilities.

capital expenditures

during the review period, the group’s gross capital expenditures 

totalled eur 10.8 million (20.0 million), representing 3.7% of 

net sales (8.7%). Capital expenditures consisted mostly of the 

acquisition of production machinery and equipment. 

research and development

research and development expenditure totalled eur 5.5 

million (4.9 million), representing 1.9% (2.1%) of consolidated 

net sales. at the end of the report year, 90 (80) people were 

employed in product development.  

personnel 

during the review period, the group had an average payroll of 

4,971 employees (4,013). at the end of the financial year, the 

group’s personnel numbered 5,311 employees (4,779), of whom 

4,576 (4,084) worked abroad and 735 (695) in finland. 

quality and the environment   

the group’s european wiring harnesses business has been 

certified in compliance with the ISo/tS 16949, ISo 9001 and 

ISo 14001 standards. the Chinese factory as well as the factory 

in Pskov, russia, have received ISo 14001 certificates and will 

be certified in accordance with ISo/tS 16949 and ISo 9001 

return on investMent (roi), %

equity ratio, %

GearinG, %

PKC GROUP  /   ANNUAL REPORT 2007
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standards during the first part of the current year. the north 

american wiring harnesses operations have been certified in 

accordance with ISo/tS 16949, and the objective is to obtain 

a certificate for an ISo 14001 environmental system at the 

mexican factory in spring 2008. the electronics business has 

been certified in accordance with the ISo 9001 and ISo 14001 

standards in europe and also the electronics unit in China will 

be certified in spring 2008. 

the improvement of the quality of operations is carried out 

in line with the group’s quality strategy and action plans 

based on it. In accordance with its environmental policy, PKC 

is committed to continuously minimising the environmental 

impacts of its operations.

the demands of the rohS directive are followed stringently in 

the electronics business and material procurement.

the company’s board of directors and  

corporate management team

PKC group oyj’s Board of directors was composed of the 

following members: harri Suutari (Chairman), matti eestilä, 

Jaakko niemelä, endel Palla, olli Pohjanvirta (as from 29 march 

2007), matti ruotsala, risto Suonio (until 29 march 2007), and 

Jyrki tähtinen. 

mika Kari served as the company’s President and Ceo. the 

group’s Corporate management team is composed of mika Kari, 

President and Ceo; mika rytky, vice President, wiring harnesses; 

Jarmo rajala, vice President, electronics; and Sami Klemola, Cfo.

auditors

the authorized public accounting firm ernst & young oy carried 

out PKC group oyj’s audit, with rauno Sipilä, authorized Public 

accountant, acting as the principal auditor. 

shares and shareholders

aS harju elekter’s proportion of PKC group oyj’s voting rights and 

share capital fell below the one tenth (1/10) limit on 15 may 2007.

the board’s authorisations

the Board of directors has been granted authorisation by the 

annual general meeting on 29 march 2007 to decide on one or 

more share issues and the granting of special rights as defined 

in Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Companies act and on all the 

terms and conditions thereof. a maximum total of 3,500,000 

shares may be issued or subscribed for on the basis of the 

authorisation. the authorisation includes the right to decide 

on a directed share issue. the authorisation shall be in force 

for five years from the date of the resolution of the annual 

general meeting. the authorisation may be used at the Board’s 

discretion for financing corporate acquisitions, for carrying out 

inter-company co-operation or similar arrangements, or for 

strengthening the company’s financing and capital structure.

the Board of directors does not have a valid authorisation to 

acquire the company’s own shares, and the company does not 

have any own shares (treasury shares) in its possession.

short-term risks and uncertainties

the PKC group strives to manage and limit any adverse effects 

of risks encountered in its operations. the main risks are 

the market trend in the demand for the products of its main 

customers, price pressures imposed by customers and demands 

for tighter contractual terms, the availability of raw materials 

and components and changes in their world market prices, as 

well as the adequacy of production capacity in case demand 

rises rapidly.

the principles, objectives and organisation of the company’s 

risk management as well as key risk areas are described in 

the risk management section in the Corporate governance 

guidelines, which are available on the company’s website, 

www.pkcgroup.com.

outlook for the future

the higher degree of uncertainty in the global economy has 

not been reflected in customers’ orders or forecasts. Because 

of the continuing consolidation trend among customers, 

competitors and suppliers, and with overall demand potentially 

levelling off, the competitive situation is expected to continue 

to become tighter.

In accordance with customer forecasts, we expect deliveries to 

the commercial vehicles industry to grow compared with the 

previous year. we will also be seeking growth on the growing 

russian market in the future. 

the volume of wiring harnesses deliveries to the other vehicle 

industry and to customers in the telecommunications and 

automation industries is expected to increase with the start-up 

of new product ranges.

Competition on the contract design and manufacturing market will 

remain stiff, calling for cost-efficiency and the capability to rapidly 

respond to customers’ worldwide needs. By offering customers 

services that cover all stages of a product’s life cycle, we will 

guarantee the continuation of close co-operation based on trust 

in the future. we expect the electronics business to continue its 

growth and to maintain its profitability at a good level.

Consolidated net sales are expected to grow on the previous 

year. the downward trend in sales prices will create pressures 

to develop operational efficiency. In addition, we estimate that 

high prices of raw materials and costs related to the increase 

of production capacity will cut our profitability, but operative 

profitability over the full year is forecast to remain at a good level. 
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board of directors’ proposal for the disposal of profits

the parent company’s distributable funds are eur 57,671,404 of which the net profit for the financial year amounts to  

eur 14,213,049.

the Board of directors will propose to the annual general meeting that the distributable funds be disposed of as follows:

- a dividend of eur 0.45 per share is to be paid, totalling eur 8,001,685

- a transfer be made to shareholders’ equity in the amount of eur 49,669,719

total   eur 57,671,404 .

the record date for the dividend payout is 1 april 2008. the payment date for dividends is 8 april 2008.

the company’s liquidity is good and, in the view of the Board of directors, the proposed dividend payout will not put the 

company’s liquidity at risk.

other information listed in the ministry of finance decree on a security issuer’s statutory duty of disclosure (153/2007)

is shown in the notes for financial statements.

PKC GROUP  /   ANNUAL REPORT 2007



24 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

1,000 eur notes 2007 2006

    

net sales 2,4 288,649 228,928

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in stocks of 

  finished goods and work in progress  4,668 -339

other operating income 5 1,009 1,136

raw materials and services 6 162,665 122,549

Staff expenses 7 66,824 51,898

depreciation and value adjustments 8 7,644 6,310

other operating expenses 9 29,022 24,719

operatinG profit 2 28,171 24,249

financial income and expenses 10 -2,529 -1,498

profit before taXes  25,642 22,751

Income taxes 11 -8,063 -7,044

profit for the financial year  17,579 15,708

   

attributable to:   

 Shareholders of the parent company  17,374 15,552

 minority interest  205 155

total  17,579 15,708

   

from profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company 12  

    Basic earnings per share (ePS), eur  0.98 0.88

    diluted earnings per share (ePS), eur  0.98 0.87
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1,000 eur notes 31.12.2007  31.12.2006

assets    

non-current assets       

goodwill 13 6,214 5,723

other intangible assets 13 3,534 3,330

tangible assets 14 34,454 31,468

deferred tax assets 17,18 3,804 2,486

other receivables 18 388 641

non-current assets total  48,393 43,647

   

current assets   

Inventories total 16 46,954 36,589

receivables  17  

    trade receivables  61,176 55,557

    other non interest-bearing receivables  9,001 7,163

Short-term receivables total  70,176 62,720

Cash and cash equivalents  10,426 8,060

current assets total  127,556 107,369

assets total  175,949 151,016

   

equity and liabilities   

equity   

Share capital 19 5,983 5,983

Share premium account  4,862 4,862

reserve fund  239 166

translation differences  5 -403

Share-based payments 20 759 222

retained earnings  52,970 45,516

Profit for the financial year  17,374 15,552

Minority interest  789 646

equity total  82,980 72,544

    

liabilities   

non-current liabilities 21  

 Interest-bearing liabilities 25 21,078 18,947

 non interest-bearing liabilities  0 112

 Provisions for pensions 22 114 223

 deferred tax liabilities 18, 21 560 658

non-current liabilities total  21,752 19,941

current liabilities 21  

 Interest-bearing liabilities 25 34,606 26,068

 trade payables  21,173 18,394

 non interest-bearing liabilities  15,438 14,068

Current liabilities total  71,217 58,531

liabilities  total  92,969 78,472

equity and liabilities total  175,949 151,016
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

cash flows from operating activities  

Cash receipts from customers 282,362 217,714

Cash receipts from other operating income 974 1,070

Cash paid to suppliers and employees -258,253 -199,711

cash flows from operations before financial income and expenses and taxes 25,082 19,074

Interest paid -2,745 -2,413

Interest received and other financial income 817 2,086

Income taxes paid -10,497 -8,766

net cash from operating activies (a) 12,658 9,980

  

cash flows from investing activities  

Purchase of tangible or intangible assets -11,143 -9,237

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 108 534

aquisitions of subsidiaries -1,380 -9,985

loans granted -11 -12

amortisation of loan receivables 9 14

dividends received 1 1

net cash used in financial activities (b) -12,416 -18,685

  

cash flows from financing activities  

Share issue 0 441

drawing of credits 18,843 25,393

amortisation of credits -8,642 -5,891

dividends paid -8,077 -8,068

net cash used in financial activities (c) 2,123 11,876

  

net increase (+) or decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c) 2,365 3,171

  

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8,060 4,889

cash and cash equivalents at end of period 10,426 8,060

change 2,365 3,171
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     equity

  share   attributable

  premium other retained to shareholders Minority equity

1,000 eur share capital account reserves earnings of the parent  interest total

        

shareholders’ equity 1.1.2006 5,952 4,452 262 53,778 64,444 593 65,036

translation difference  - - - -790 -790 -5 -795

transfer from restricted to  

  unrestricted capital  - - -96 96 - - -

net income recognised  

  directly in equity - - -96 -694 -790 -5 -795

Profit for the financial year - -  15,552 15,552 155 15,708

total recognised income and

  expenses for the period - - - 15,552 15,552 155 15,708

dividends  - - - -7,971 -7,971 -97 -8,068

Share-based payments  - - - 222 222 - 222

equity share options used  31 410 - - 441 - 441

shareholders’ equity 31.12.2006 5,983 4,862 166 60,887 71,898 646 72,544

                   

shareholders’ equity 1.1.2007 5,983 4,862 166 60,887 71,898 646 72,544

translation difference  - - -19 -5 -24 13 -11

transfer from unrestricted to  

  restricted capital  - - 92 -92 - - -

translation difference of net  

  investment to foreign subsidiary - - - 408 408 - 408

net income recognised directly

  in equity - - 73 311 384 13 397

Profit for the financial year - -  17,374 17,374 205 17,579

total recognised income and

  expenses for the period - - - 17,374 17,374 205 17,579

dividends  - - - -8,002 -8,002 -75 -8,077

equity share options used  - - - - - - 0

Share-based payments  - - - 537 537 - 537

shareholders’ equity 31.12.2007 5,983 4,862 239 71,107 82,191 789 82,980

       

dividends was paid in 0.45 eur per share according to annual general meeting’s decisions in 2007 and 0.45 eur per share in 2006. 
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corporate inforMation

the PKC group offers design and contract manufacturing 

services for wiring harnesses, cabling and electronics to the 

commercial vehicles, telecommunications and electronics 

industry. the group has production facilities in finland, 

estonia, russia, Brazil, mexico and China, and it employs 

over 5,300 people. the parent company of the group,  

PKC group oyj, is a public listed company and it is 

domiciled in Kempele. visiting address: vihikari 10, 

fIn-90440 Kempele, finland.

1. accountinG principles for

the consolidated accounts

General

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

in accordance with International financial reporting 

Standards (IfrS). the consolidated financial statements 

have been prepared in compliance with IaS and IfrS 

standards as well as the SIC and IfrIC interpretations that 

came into force on 31 december 2007. the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements have also been prepared 

according to finnish gaaP and company legislation that 

are a supplement to the IfrS standards.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on a historical cost basis and are presented in euros, 

rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise 

indicated. available-for-sale investments and financial assets 

and liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value.

basis of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements include the parent 

company and all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are 

companies in which the parent company holds, directly or 

indirectly, over 50 per cent of the voting rights or which 

it otherwise controls at the end of the financial period. 

divested companies are included in the income statement 

until the time of sale or control ceases. Subsidiaries are 

fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, which is 

the date when the group has obtained control. the group 

had neither holdings in associates nor joint ventures in the 

previous financial period.

the acquisition of subsidiaries has been accounted for using 

the purchase method of accounting. the purchase method 

of accounting involves allocating the cost of the business 

combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. any excess is 

recorded as goodwill. 

according to the exemption permitted under IfrS 1, 

business combinations prior to the date of transition to 

IfrS (1 January 2004) are not restated to comply with IfrS 

but are instead treated at deemed cost, valued according to 

finnish gaaP.

all intra-group transactions, receivables and liabilities, 

intra-group margins and dividends have been eliminated 

in full. Profit for the financial period has been divided 

between profit for the financial period attributable to 

shareholders of the parent company and minority  

interest. minority interest is presented as a separate  

item in equity.

at 1 January 2007, the group has applied the following 

new and revised standards and interpretations:

-  IfrS 7 financial Instruments: disclosures

 the standard has increased the number of notes to be 

presented in the consolidated financial statements. the 

new notes relate mainly to sensitivity analyses.

-  IaS 1 Presentation of financial Statements – Capital 

disclosure 

 the rules have expanded the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements.

-  IfrIC 8 Scope of IfrS 2

 the group has not had arrangements pursuant to 

the interpretation during the past financial period or 

preceding periods.

-  IfrIC 9 reassessment of embedded derivatives

 adoption of the interpretation has not had an effect on 

the consolidated financial statements.

-  IfrIC 10 Interim financial reporting and Impairment

 the interpretation has not had an effect on the 

consolidated financial statements.

foreign subsidiaries and foreign currency items 

the group’s income statement is presented in euros, which 

is the functional currency of the parent company. the 

functional currency of group companies in finland, Brazil, 

russia, estonia and China is the euro in both the current 

and previous period. the functional currency of the other 

companies in the group is the local currency.
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In the consolidated financial statements, foreign currency 

transactions are initially recorded at the functional 

currency rate at the date of the transactions. at the 

balance sheet date, monetary items, such as receivables 

and liabilities are translated at the rate at the balance 

sheet date. any translation differences are recorded in the 

income statement.

the income statements of subsidiaries whose functional 

currency is not the euro are translated to euro amounts 

using the weighted average exchange rate and balance 

sheet items are translated at the exchange rate at the 

balance sheet date. any translation difference that arises is 

recognised in equity.

Cumulative translation differences that have arisen before 

the date of the transition to IfrS are recognised in retained 

earnings according to the exemption permitted under IfrS 

1. the amount of cumulative translation differences at the 

date of transition to IfrS was insignificant.

exchange rate gains and losses arising from foreign 

transactions and translation gains and losses arising from 

foreign non-monetary items are recognised in the income 

statement.  exchange rate gains and losses on foreign 

currency based loans are included in financial income and 

expenses, except  the translation differences arising from 

loans which are designated as a hedge of a net investment 

in a foreign operation and are effective for that purpose. 

these translation differences are recorded in translation 

differences under equity.

intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded in the balance sheet at cost 

if their cost can be determined reliably and it is probable 

that they will embody economic benefits for the group.  

Intangible assets that have limited useful lives are 

amortised on a straight-line basis in the income statement 

during their known or estimated financial useful lives. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 

amortised but tested annually for impairment.

amortisation periods for intangible assets are:

Purchased software licences 4–5 years 

Customer relationships 5 years .

Goodwill

goodwill is recognised as the amount of the excess 

of the cost of a business acquisition over the group’s 

interest in the net fair value of assets and it is allocated 

to cash-generating units. goodwill is tested annually for 

impairment with a discounted cash-flow model according 

to IaS 36. Impairment losses are recognised in the income 

statement of the year in which they arose. goodwill is not 

amortised in the income statement.

research and development costs

research costs are expensed as they are incurred. 

development costs are recognised as intangible assets when 

they fulfil the terms of development cost capitalisation 

according to IaS 38. all the group’s development costs 

are expensed because of insufficient indication of future 

economic benefits in the development phase of projects.

tangible assets

tangible assets are intially measured at cost. following 

initial recognition, tangible assets are carried at cost less 

any accumulated depreciations and any accumulated 

impairment losses. Subsequent expenses are added to the 

carrying amount of the assets only when they embody 

future economic benefits for the group and when their cost 

can be determined reliably. 

assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis during the 

estimated lives. land areas are not depreciated.

depreciation periods for tangible assets are:

Buildings and constructions 5–20 years

machinery and equipment 3–10 years

other tangible assets 5–10 years .

leases

leases that transfer to the group substantially all the 

risks and benefits incidental to ownership are classified 

as finance leases and recognised as non-current assets at 

the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased 

property or, if lower, at the present value of minimum 

lease payments and depreciated over the economic life. 

Commitments of lease payments are recognised as interest-

bearing liabilities.
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leases that transfer from the group substantially all the 

risks and benefits incidental to ownership are classified as 

finance leases and recognised as a receivable in the balance 

sheet. the receivable is measured at present value and it is 

recognised as rental income over the lease term.

operating lease payments are recognised as income or 

expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis. 

the group has not had finance leases in the current period 

or previous periods.

investment properties

the group has not had assets that could be classified 

as investment properties either in the current period or 

previous periods.

impairments of assets

the group assesses at each reporting date whether there 

is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, the group makes an estimate of the 

asset’s recoverable amount. an asset’s recoverable amount 

is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair 

value less the cost to sell and its value in use. In addition, 

goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful 

lives are tested for impairment annually.

an impairment loss is recognised when the asset’s or cash-

generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. an impairment loss is recognised as a reduction in 

the carrying value in the balance sheet, which is expensed 

in the income statement. the impairment loss of a cash-

generating unit is recognised first as a reduction in the 

carrying value of the goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating unit and then proportionally as a reduction 

in the other assets of the cash-generating unit. details of 

impairment testing are given in note 15.

a previously recognised impairment loss for assets 

other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been 

a significant positive change in the estimates used to 

determine the asset’s recoverable amount. an impairment 

loss can be reversed to the amount that would have been 

the carrying value of the asset, had no impairment loss 

been recognised. an impairment loss for goodwill shall not 

be reversed at any circumstances.

inventories

Inventories are measured at acquisition cost or the lower 

probable net realisable value. the cost of the inventory 

is determined on the basis of the weighted average 

cost formula and it includes all the direct costs and a 

proportional amount of indirect manufacturing costs. the 

net realisable value is the selling price less estimated costs 

to finish and sell the product.

financial assets, liabilities and derivate contracts

financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at 

acquisition cost, which is the value of the received or 

divested consideration on the transaction date. 

financial assets are classified after initial recognition in 

four categories: financial assets at fair value through profit 

and loss, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale 

investments and in loans and receivables. transaction costs 

are included in the initial carrying amount of the financial 

asset when the assets are not recognised at fair value 

through profit and loss. 

financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are 

measured at fair value through profit and loss. held-to-

maturity investments are carried at amortised cost.

available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value 

with gains and losses being recognised in equity until the 

investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative 

gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the 

income statement. available-for-sale investments whose 

fair value cannot be determined reliably are measured at 

acquisition cost less any cumulative impairment. unrealised 

gains and losses on available-for-sale investments are 

recognised in equity until the investments are sold, at 

which time the cumulative gains and losses are recognised 

in the income statement.

loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method.

derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied are 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and 

loss. Currency forwards are measured at fair value on the 

basis of the difference between the contractual rate and 

the rate at the balance sheet date. Currency options are 
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measured at fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation 

model. at the balance sheet date, the group had no 

derivatives to which hedge accounting is applied. financial 

liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss and other financial liabilities. 

financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at 

fair value through profit and loss and as other financial 

liabilities. financial liabilities at fair value through profit 

and loss are measured at fair value. other financial 

liabilities are carried at amortised cost. 

the group evaluates potential impairments of financial 

assets and liabilities at each balance sheet date and 

recognises impairment losses as financial expenses in the 

income statement.

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at 

bank and short-term deposits with an original maturity of 

three months or less.

treasury shares

Purchases of treasury shares including costs are deducted 

from equity. no treasury shares were purchased in the 

current or previous period.

interest-bearing loans

Interest-bearing loans are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. gains and losses arising from 

differences between amortised cost using the effective 

interest method and the initially recognised acquisition 

cost are recognised in net profit or loss throughout the 

amortisation process. used credit limits are included in 

current interest-bearing liabilities.

pension arrangements

Pension arrangements are classified either as defined 

benefit pension plans or defined contribution pension plans 

according to IfrS. Pension plans at all group companies are 

defined contribution plans. for defined-contribution plans, 

the group pays fixed contributions to a separate unit. the 

group does not have obligations to pay supplementary 

contributions if the recipient of the contributions is not 

able to meet the payment of said pension benefits.

share-based payments

the group has applied IfrS 2 Share-Based Payments to 

the option scheme which was approved by the annual 

general meeting on 30 march 2006. expenses of option 

schemes prior to this have not been presented in the 

income statement, pursuant to transitional provisions of 

the standard. option rights are measured at fair value at 

the time they are granted and entered as an expense in the 

income statement in even instalments during the vesting 

period. the expense determined is based on the defined 

fair value of the stock options as well as on management’s 

estimate of the amount of options to which the employee 

will be entitled at the end of the vesting period. the fair 

value of the options is determined on the basis of the Black-

Scholes pricing model. the group updates the assumptions 

concerning the final amount of stock options at each 

balance sheet date. Changes in the estimates are recorded 

in the income statement. when options are exercised, the 

cash payments received on the basis of share subscriptions, 

adjusted for any transaction expenses, are entered in equity.

provisions

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the 

group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that it entails future 

expenses and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the 

present value of the costs necessary to settle the obligation. 

a restructuring provision is recognised in the balance sheet 

only when a detailed and formal plan is prepared and its 

main features are announced to those affected by it. a 

provision is not booked on expenditure connected with the 

group’s continuing operations.

a warranty provision is recognised, when a product is sold 

which contains a warranty clause. the warranty provision is 

estimated on the basis of past experience of warranty costs. 

the warranty cost history in the financial year now ended 

and in the comparative period preceding it did not require 

the recognition of a guarantee provision.

revenue recognition

revenue (net sales) is presented as the total invoiced value 

of products sold and services rendered, measured at fair 

value and adjusted for indirect taxes and discounts given.
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revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 

significant risks, rewards and actual control connected with 

ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer. 

as a rule, sales are recognised as income when products 

are supplied in accordance with the terms of sale. revenue 

from services is recognised in the period when the service 

is rendered.

revenue and expenses for long-term projects is recorded as 

income and expenses on the basis of the stage of completion 

when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated 

reliably. when the outcome of the transaction cannot be 

estimated reliably, the margin on the transaction is not 

recorded as income. In determining the stage of completion 

of a long-term project, the work input applied to the project 

is compared to the estimated total work input.

other operating income and expenses

other operating income comprises gains from sales of 

assets and other income not related to actual operations. 

other operating expenses comprise losses from sales 

of assets and other indirect costs, such as research and 

development expenses.

interest and dividend income

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest 

method. dividend income is recognised when the group’s 

right to receive payment is established. 

borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Government grants

received government grants are recognised as income 

over the period necessary to match the costs that they are 

intended to compensate.

income taxes

the income taxes presented in the consolidated financial 

statements are the income taxes calculated according to 

the local tax rules of the group companies and the change 

in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on all of 

the temporary differences between the carrying amounts 

and taxable value of balance sheet items. the amount of 

deferred tax assets and liabilities is measured using the tax 

base that is probably in force at the time of payment. 

the most important temporary items arise from 

depreciation differences within the group. deferred tax 

assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary difference can be utilised. deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are presented in more detail in note 18.

non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

operations are classified as discontinued at the date when 

they fulfil the terms to be classified as non-current assets 

held for sale or when disposed of. for this to be the case, 

the asset’s disposal or sale must be highly probable. 

gains and losses from sales of discontinued operations are 

presented separately from continuing operations in the 

income statement without tax effect. the group had no 

operations to be classified as discontinued in the financial 

period now ended.

accounting policies calling for management’s judgement

the preparation of financial statements according to 

IfrS has required management to make assumptions and 

estimates that have affected the values presented in the 

balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. the 

assumptions and estimates used are based on historical 

experience and the circumstances and outlook prevailing at 

the balance sheet date.

the execution of the annual impairment test has required 

management to make assumptions and estimates to 

measure the value in use of cash-generating units. 

according to management’s estimation, values in use 

exceed the carrying amounts of all cash-generating units to 

such a significant extent that allocated goodwill or other 

intangible and tangible assets hold no significant risk for 

impairment in the current period.

assumptions and estimates used in the comparative period 

are based on the circumstances and outlook that prevailed 

at the balance sheet date of the comparative period. 

although all estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of current events and actions, the actual result 

may differ from the estimates.
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application of new or revised ifrs standards 

the group will apply the following standards and IfrIC 

interpretations, published by the IaSB, from 1 January 2008:

-  IfrIC 11 – IfrS 2 group and treasury Share transactions

 the group estimates that the adoption of the revised 

standard will have no material impact on its forthcoming 

financial statements.

- IfrIC 12 – Service Concession arrangements

 the group estimates that the adoption of the revised 

standard will have no material impact on its forthcoming 

financial statements.

- IfrIC 13 Customer loyalty Programmes

 the group does not have Customer loyalty Programmes 

in the meaning of the interpretation.

- frIC 14 IaS 19 the limit on a defined Benefit asset, 

minimum funding requirements and their Interaction

 according to a preliminary estimate, the interpretation 

will not have any impact on the forthcoming financial 

statements.

the group will apply the following standards, published by 

the IaSB, from 1 January 2009:

- IfrS 8 operating Segments

 It is estimated that the new standard will not materially 

alter the present segment reporting because the business 

segments defined in accordance with internal reporting 

are at present the group’s primary form of reporting.

- IaS 23 Borrowing Costs

 the revised standard requires that borrowing costs 

relating to the acquisition, construction or production of 

a qualifying asset, such as a production plant, measured 

on a cost basis, be capitalised as part of the cost of 

that asset. the group has recorded, in the previously 

permitted manner, borrowing costs as an expense in 

the period when they have been incurred. the group 

estimates that adoption of the new standard will 

not have a material impact on forthcoming financial 

statements.

- IaS 1 Presentation of financial statements – Capital 

disclosure

  the revised standard changes the presentation of 

financial statement calculations. the group estimates 

that the change will mainly affect the presentation of 

the income statement and the statement of changes in 

equity. the principle of calculating the earnings per share 

key ratio will not change.

2. seGMent inforMation

the group’s primary reporting segments are business 

segments. the secondary information is reported 

geographically. transfer prices between business segments 

are based on market prices. Segments’ assets and liabilities 

include only assets and liabilities that can be directly 

allocated. Business segments’ common items, such as 

administration, are included in unallocated assets and 

liabilities.

business seGMents

Wiring harnesses

the wiring harnesses business manufactures and develops 

wiring harnesses and cabling for demanding and tailored 

solutions. 

electronics

the electronics business provides design and contract 

manufacturing services to the telecommunications and

electronics industries. 

GeoGraphical seGMents

the revenue of geographical segments is based on the 

geographical location of customers. the segments are 

finland, other europe, north america, South america and 

other countries. the assets and investments of geographical 

segments are based on the geographical locations of the 

assets, which are finland, estonia, russia, Brazil, mexico 

and other countries.
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2. seGMent inforMation

business seGMents Wiring   Group    

1,000 eur harnesses  electronics eliminations total

2007

Sales to external customers 230,013 58,636 0 288,649

Sales to other segments 170 835 -1,005 0

net sales 230,183 59,471 -1,005 288,649

depreciation 6,426 1,233 0 7,659

operatinG profit 18,731 9,424 0 28,156

    

goodwill 5,005 1,209 0 6,214

other assets of segment 115,240 27,364 -3,042 139,562

unallocated assets    30,174

assets total 120,244 28,573 -3,042 175,949

Segment’s liabilities 26,365 9,416 -796 34,985

unallocated liabilities    57,870

liabilities total 26,365 9,416 -796 92,855

    

Capital expenditures 6,631 4,160 0 10,791

    

2006       

Sales to external customers 182,006 46,922 0 228,928

Sales to other segments 155 1,112 -1,267 0

net sales 182,161 48,034 -1,267 228,928   

depreciation 5,320 990 0 6,310   

operatinG profit 17,899 6,350 0 24,249

    

goodwill 4,514 1,209 0 5,723

other assets of segment 116,356 20,370 -3,281 133,445

unallocated assets    11,847

assets total 120,870 21,579 -3,281 151,016

Segment’s liabilities 22,861 10,734 -3,603 29,992

unallocated liabilities    48,480

liabilities total 22,861 10,734 -3,603 78,472

Capital expenditures 6,501 2,781 0 9,282
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1,000 eur  2007 2006  

GeoGraphical seGMents

  

net sales  

by market areas 

finland 54,411 47,824

other europe 153,727 128,484

north america 30,692 16,534

South america 36,145 29,149

other countries 13,673 6,937

total 288,649 228,928

  

assets  

by location of assets 

finland 100,311 86,464

estonia 6,488 7,072

russia 24,493 26,707

Brazil 21,403 14,448

mexico 8,141 9,646

other countries 15,112 6,679

total 175,949 151,016

  

capital eXpenditures  

by location of assets 

finland 2,547 3,259

estonia 666 611

russia 2,977 2,325

Brazil 1,705 1,019

mexico 576 1,593

other countries 2,320 475

total 10,791 9,282

3. business coMbinations 

on 1 august 2006, the PKC group purchased the business 

of electro Canada limited and all the shares of electro 

Canada Sa de Cv and electro uSa Inc. the electro Canada 

companies manufacture wiring harnesses for vehicles and 

electrotechnical equipment. the acquisition included a 

head office in toronto, Canada, a wiring harnesses factory 

in nogales, mexico, and a sales office in arizona, uSa. the 

purchase cost, eur 10.7 million, included fees of lawyers 

and valuation experts that totalled eur 837 thousand. 

the acquisition has been included in the PKC group’s 

consolidated financial statements as from 1 august 2006 

using the purchase method of consolidation.  the eur 

3.8 million goodwill booked on the integration of the 

businesses, as reconciled in January 2007, includes synergy 

and other benefits, which include additional sales generated 

for the group and materials procurement benefits which 

are expected to be gained from the integration of funds 

and functions. the preliminary purchase price calculation 

presented in the annual report of 2006 did not have 

material changes as the final fair values were determined.

  fair values 

 final booked at the date 

 fair of the integration

 values of the businesses

1,000 eur 2007 2006

Intangible rights, agreements 

  with customers 1,253 1,125

tangible assets 1,738 1,655

Inventory 3,673 3,546

deferred tax assets 0 333

trade receivables and other 

non interest-bearing receivables 3,722 3,544

total 10,386 10,203

  

other liabilities 2,581 2,456

deferred tax liability 102 333

total 2,683 2,789

  

net assets 7,703 7,414

goodwill 3,831 3,316

total purchase cost 11,534 10,730
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4. lonG terM proJects

Consolidated net sales in 2007 included eur 175,000 in 

returns booked from construction contracts (eur 149,000 

in 2006).  Substantial profits or advance payments from 

uncompleted long term projects was not booked in current 

or in previous financial period. 

    

1,000 eur 2007 2006

5. other operatinG incoMe    

Income from sales of non-current assets 12 90

grants 131 128

other income 866 918

total 1,009 1,136  

  

6. Materials and services  

raw materials and consumables  

Purchases during the financial period 165,119 124,450

outsourced services 2,843 1,108

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in stocks -5,297 -3,010

total 162,665 122,549

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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eur 1,000 2007 2006 2005

7. staff eXpenses    

wages and salaries 52,084 40,501 37,097

defined pension contribution plans 5,566 4,743 4,311

other social expenses 8,637 6,433 4,915

Share-based payments 537 222 0

total 66,824 51,898 46,323

   

salaries and fees to board and management     

Salaried and fees to Board members   

 eestilä matti, member from 30.3.2006 24 15 0

 hakalax tom, member until 30.3.2005 0 0 5

 Koskinen Juhani, member until 30.3.2006 0 5 17

 niemelä Jaakko, member from 30.3.2006 24 15 0

 ojala leo, member until 30.3.2006 0 5 17

 Palla endel 24 20 17

 Pohjanvirta olli, member from 29.3.2007 19  

 ravaska veikko, member until 30.3.2006 0 5 20

 ruotsala matti, member from 30.3.2006 24 15 0

 Suonio risto, member until 29.3.2007 5 20 17

 Suutari harri 48 39 20

 tähtinen Jyrki 36 29 24

total 202 166 134  

Salaries and fees to Presidents(*   

 Kari mika 274 190 163

 Suutari harri 0 0 113

Share-based payments to Presidents(*, note 20 79 37 

total 353 227 275 

Salaries and fees to other members of management team 505 390 884

Share-based payments to other members of 

  management team, note 20 84 49 0

total 589 439 884  

salaries and fees to management total 1,144 832 1,293

   

*) mika Kari was appointed PKC group oyj’s president and Ceo as from 1.9.2005. at the same time harri Suutari has been 

apppointed Chairman of the Board   
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salaries, remuneration and other benefits

In 2007 the agm resolved to pay Board members eur 25,000/term, vice-Chairman eur 37,500/term and Chairman eur 

50,000/term as well as travel and accommodations expenses. In 2006 it was decided to pay the Chairman eur 40,000/term, 

vice-Chairman eur 30,000/term and other members eur 20,000/term.

In 2007 the President’s salaries and other benefits totalled eur 273,597 of which bonuses eur 90,000 (32.9% of the total 

salary). mika Kari´s service contract has provision for 3 months notice period from the President´s part and 6 months from 

company´s part and also, when the company ends the contract, for a monetary compensation corresponding to 15 months 

total salary, including salary for the period of notice as well as, in conjunction with the adoption of financial statements, 

prorated part of the bonus corresponding to the period of working in full months during the financial year in question. 

the retirement age is statutory and no voluntary insurance policies have been taken. at the end of financial year 2007 the 

President had 60,000 share-options.

In year 2007 the corporate management teams’, excluding the president, salaries and other benefits totalled eur 505,349 

of which bonuses eur 142,984 (28.3 % of the total salaries). meeting fees are not paid to the Corporate management 

team. the members of the C.m.t. have employment contracts valid for indefinite period, with 3 months notice period from 

the director´s part and 6 months from company´s part and without separate severance payment or other compensation. 

the retirement age is statutory and no voluntary insurance policies have been taken. the members of the Corporate 

management team are included in the year 2006 Stock option Scheme. at the end of the financial year 2007 the Corporate 

management team had 70,000 share-options.

  2007 2006 2005

average number of personnel   

Clerical employees 1,119 898 650

employees 3,852 3,115 2,856

total 4,971 4,013 3,506

   

personnel by business segments at the end of period   

wiring harnesses 4,789 4,389 3,226

electronics 522 390 344

total 5,311 4,779 3,570

   

personnel by reginon at the end of period   

Brazil 629 581 560

Canada 14 15 0

China 124 29 2

mexico 709 794 0

finland 735 695 719

uSa 2 1 2

russia 1,820 1,467 1,229

estonia 1,278 1,197 1,058

total 5,311 4,779 3,570

   

personnel at the end of period 5,311 4,779 3,570
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

  

8. depreciation    

intangible assets  

Purschased software licenses 726 499

Customer relationships 249 94

tangible assets  

Buildings and constructions 752 755

machinery and equipment 5,584 4,816

other tangible assets 333 146

total 7,644 6,310

    

    

9. other operatinG eXpenses    

auditors’ fees 294 259

rents 4,432 3,698

other operating expenses 24,296 20,762

total 29,022 24,719

  

auditors’ fees  

audits 164 177

assignments 1 1

tax services 28 20

other services 100 61

total 294 259  

  

10. financial incoMe and eXpenses    

financial income  

Profit on exchange 1,760 993

dividend yields 1 1

other interest and financial income 141 94

total 1,901 1,088

  

financial expenses  

exchange loss -1,979 -1,275

other interest and financial expenses -2,451 -1,210

Change in fair value of assets recognised 

  through profit and loss 0 -101

total -4,430 -2,586  

financial income and expenses total -2,529 -1,498

  

exchange differences included 

in income statement  

net sales -93 -46

raw materials and services 364 182

raw material derivates -314 -213

financing -176 -205

total -220 -281

1,000 eur 2007 2006

11. incoMe taXes  

Income taxes from actual operations 8,999 7,568

Income taxes from previous year -3 1

other taxes -968 -607

Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities 34 82

total 8,063 7,044

  

definition of tax expense  

Income taxes according to finland’s 

  tax rate 6,667 5,911

effects of different tax rates in 

  foreign subsidiaries 672 321

tax-free income and non-deductible costs 440 456

other items 283 355

total 8,063 7,044  

12. earninGs per share    

basic  

Profit for the financial year 17,374 15,552

average share issue-adjusted number 

  of shares 1,000 shares 17,782 17,756

basic earnings per share (eps), eur 0.98 0.88

diluted  

Profit for the financial year 17,374 15,552

average share issue-adjusted number 

   of shares 1,000 shares 17,782 17,756

diluting effects of options 1,000 shares negative 18

diluted average share issue-adjusted 

  number of shares, 1,000 shares 17,782 17,774

diluted earnings per share (eps), eur 0.98 0.87
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1,000 eur 

13. intanGible assets purchased software  customer advance 

 licenses Goodwill relationships payments total

acquisition cost 1.1.2007  3,441 10,128 1,125 395 15,089 

+/- translation difference 1.1  0 97 119 0 216 

+ Increases  314 255 0 811 1,381 

- decreases  0 0 0 -59 -59 

+/- transfers  991 0 0 -991 0 

+/- other changes  -6 139 0 0 132 

acquisition cost 31.12.2007  4,739 10,618 1,244 157 16,759 

      

accumulated depreciation and impairments 1.1.2007  1,538 4,404 94 0 6,036 

+depreciation  726 0 249 0 975 

accumulated depreciation  31.12.2007  2,264 4,404 343 0 7,011 

      

book value 31.12.2007  2,475 6,214 902 157 9,748 

book value 31.12.2006  1,903 5,723 1,032 395 9,053 

14. tanGible assets     advance

  buildings Machinery other payments and

  and cons- and  tangible   acquistions

 land areas  tructions equipment assets  in progress total

acquisition cost 1.1.2007 119 14,267 44,083 1 ,507 740 60,597

+/- translation difference 1.1 0 -14 73 -7 0 52

+ Increases 0 42 8,380 660 632 9,713

- decreases 0 0 -436 0 0 -436

+/- transfers 0 0 435 346 -781 0

+/- other changes 0 0 21 -61 -3 -43

acquisition cost 31.12.2007 119 14,294 52,556 2,445 588 70,003

      

accumulated depreciation and 

  impairments 1.1.2007 0 2,254 26,082 912 0 29,249

+/- translation difference 1.1 0 -2 19 -1 0 17

- accumulated depreciation of decreases and transfers 0 0 -374 -10 0 -385

+ depreciation 0 752 5,584 333 0 6,669

accumulated depreciation and 

  impairments 31.12.2007 0 3,005 31,311 1,233 0 35,549

            

book value 31.12.2007 119 11,290 21,245 1,212 588 34,454

book value 31.12.2006 119 12,013 18,001 595 740 31,349
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15. procedures and results of iMpairMent testinG

Impairment testing is performed annually on goodwill 

and on intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. the 

group’s intangible assets with indefinite useful lives at the 

balance sheet date comprised only goodwill.

the group has allocated goodwill to cash-generating units 

that comprise one or more business units. the impairment 

of a cash-generating unit (Cgu) is tested for impairment by 

comparing its recoverable amount to its carrying amount. 

the recoverable amounts of all of the cash-generating units 

are determined by their values in use, which are based on 

the present value of their future cash flows. the estimates 

of the cash flows are based on continuing use of assets 

and on 3-year financial forecasts by business management, 

which are also used to extrapolate the fourth and fifth 

year. net sales estimates used in the forecasts are based on 

customer-specific estimates, future outlooks and knowledge 

from previous experience. gross margins used in the 

forecasts are based on historical actual results and cautious 

assumptions about changes occurring in the future. the 

used terminal value’s growth rate is 2% per annum.

discount rates were determined separately for each 

business unit, reflecting the effects of different business 

and economic areas on the expected return of equity. 

the cost of capital was determined using the capital asset 

pricing model (CaPm). the cost of debt was determined 

on the basis of the current credit portfolio of the parent 

company. In the determination of the weighted average 

cost of capital, the target equity ratio and the effect of 

indebtedness to the cost of equity have been taken into 

consideration. 

the range of used discount rates varied between 8.35% 

to 12.87%, depending on the Cgu.

the results of the impairment testing indicated that 

the recoverable amount of all Cgus’ exceeded their 

corresponding carrying values. the group shall not 

recognise impairment loss for the current period 

accordingly to the results of the impairment test. according 

to a sensitivity analysis, possible changes to any crucial 

variables, reasonably estimated, will not lead to a situation 

in which the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 

are less than the units’ carrying amounts.

1,000 eur 2007 2006

  

16. inventories    

raw materials and supplies 30,727 25,192

work in progress 6,214 4,146

finished goods 9,833 7,113

advance payments 180 137

total 46,954 36,589

  

  

17. receivables    

non-current    

other receivables    

Interest-bearing receivables  

 loan receivables 100 100

 total 100 100  

non interest-bearing receivables  

 other receivables 272 525

 total 272 525  

available-for-sale investments 15 15  

non-current other receivables total 388 641  

deferred tax assets 3,804 2,486  

non-current receivables total 4,192 3,126

    

current    

trade receivables 61,176 55,557  

other receivables    

Interest-bearing receivables  

 loan receivables 2 1

 total 2 1  

non interest-bearing receivables  

 other receivables 5,192 4,560

 Prepayments and accrued income 3,806 2,602

 total 8,998 7,162  

Current other receivables total 9,001 7,163

current  receivables total 70,176 62,720  

  

receivables total 74,368 65,846

  

prepayments and accrued income    

non interest-bearing receivables  

 Staff expenses 170 176

 financial items 14 6

 taxes 1,784 675

 others 1,838 1,745

total 3,806 2,602
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1,000 eur 

18. deferred taX assets and liabilities   recognised in 

   income

  1.1.2007 statement 31.12.2007

deferred tax assets 

accumulated depreciation differences  828 -92 735

unused tax-deductible losses from previous periods (*  1,080 1,667 2,747

depreciation differences of goodwill recognised  307 -307 0

Provisions  254 -1 252

other items  17 51 69

total  2,486 1,318 3,804

*) unrecognised deferred tax assets related to unused tax-deductible losses of foreign 

subsidiaries totalled eur 0.8 million in 2007.   

    

deferred tax liabilities 

allocation of production fixed expenses  141 -141 0

undistributed unrestricted capital  49 176 225

accumulated depreciation differences  130 -26 103

depreciation differences of intangible assets recognised in business combination  307 -224 82

other items  32 117 149

total  658 -98 560

   recognised in 

   income 

deferred tax assets  1.1.2006 statement 31.12.2006 

accumulated depreciation difference  841 -13 828

unused tax-deductible losses from previous periods  403 678 1 080

depreciation differences of goodwill recognised  0 0 307

Provisions  265 -11 254

other items  87 -70 17

total  1,595 584 2,486

   

deferred tax liabilities    

allocation of production fixed expenses  281 -141 141

undistributed unrestricted capital  0 49 49

accumulated depreciation differences  65 64 130

depreciation differences of intangible assets recognised in business combination  0 0 307

other items  53 -21 32

total  400 -48 658
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19. share capital number of  share

  shares share premium reserve

1,000 eur (1,000 pcs) capital account fund    

1.1.2006 17,689 5,952 4,452 262

transfer from unrestricted to restricted capital 0 0 0 -96

equity share options used 92 31 410 0

31.12.2006 17,782 5,983 4,862 166   

1.1.2007 17,782 5,983 4,862 166

transfer from restricted to unrestricted capital 0 0 0 92

translation difference  0 0 0 -19

31.12.2007 17,782 5,983 4,862 239
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20. share based payMents

the Board of directors of PKC group oyj has on 20 april 2006, in accordance with the annual general meeting’s stock 

option decision on 30 march 2006, distributed the stock options directed to the key personnel of the group and to Carhatec 

oy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company. a total of 202,500 stock options 2006a and 221,000 stock options 2006B 

were distributed to the key personnel of PKC group oyj. the remainder of the stock options 2006a as well as stock options 

2006B and 2006C were granted to Carhatec oy to be further distributed to the present and future key personnel of the 

group. a share ownership plan, in which the key personnel is obligated to subscribe for company’s shares with 20% of the 

gross income earned from stock options and own these shares for two years, is incorporated to the stock options 2006. the 

Company’s President and Ceo must own these shares as long as his service in the group continues.

stock option plan stock options, granted to key personnel of the Group       

   2006a 2006a 2006b

grant date  20.4.2006 29.3.2007 29.3.2007

number of instruments granted, 1,000 pcs.  180 22.5 221

exercise price at the grant date, eur  11.54 11.09 11.09

exercise price, eur  11.09 11.09 11.09

Share price at the grant date, eur  12.25 10.01 10.01

Contractual life for the share options, years  5.1 4.1 5.2

vesting conditions   

Settle method  Shares Shares Shares

expected volatility, %  39  35  35

expected contractual life of the option, years  5.1 4.1 5.2

risk-free interest-rate, %  3.66 4.10 4.10

expected dividend yield, %  0 0 0

expected personnel reductions (at grant date)  0 0 0

expected realisation of result-based vesting condition 

 (at grant date)  - - -

fair value of the instrument (at grant date), eur  5.19 3.03 3.48

option pricing model  Black-Scholes 

   

  2007 2007 2006 2006

  Weighted number of Weighted number of

  average exercise options average exercise options

  price per share, eur (1,000 pcs) price per share, eur (1,000 pcs)

outstanding at 1.1 11.54 180 6.93 68

granted during the year 11.09 243.5 11.54 180

exercised during the year   6.48 68

outstanding at 31.12 11.09 423.5 11.54 180

exercisable at 31.12 11.09 423.5 11.54 180
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

21. non-current liabilities  

Interest-bearing receivables  

 loans from financial institutions 20,928 18,786

 Pension loans 149 162

total 21,078 18,947

  

non interest-bearing receivables  

 trade payables 0 112

 Provisions 114 223

total 114 335

  

deferred tax liabilities 560 658

  

non-current liabilities total 21,752 19,941

  

   

current liabilities    

trade payables 21,173 18,394  

Current other liabilities  

Interest-bearing receivables  

 loans from financial institutions 34,595 26,057

 Pension loans 11 11

total 34,606 26,068

  

non interest-bearing receivables  

 advances received 1 8

 other liabilities 3,431 4,360

 accruals and deferred income 12,005 9,700

total 15,438 14,068

  

current other liabilities total 50,045 40,137

  

current liabilities total 71,217 58,531

  

creditors total 92,969 78,472

  

accruals and deffered incoMe    

to others  

 Staff expenses 9,117 6,658

 financial items 692 366

 taxes 1,624 1,691

 others  572 985

total 12,005 9,700

22. provisions

provisions for pension expenses     

1.1.2006 235  

decreases in provisions -11  

31.12.2006 223    

1.1.2007 223  

decreases in provisions -109  

31.12.2007 114  

   

Provisions for pensions is recognised from the group’s liability 

part of the unemployment pensions between 2007–2009 of 

the persons dismissed by co-determination negotiations.

   

 

1,000 eur 2007 2006 

  

23.derivates 

nominal values   

Currency derivates   

 forward agreements 5,740 5,917 

raw material derivates   

 futures contracts 1,598 0 

total 7,338 5,917   

fair values   

Currency derivates   

 forward agreements -105 -38 

raw material derivates   

 futures contracts -144 0 

total -249 -38 

   

derivates are used only in hedging currency and changing 

copper prices. PKC group does not apply hedge accounting to 

derivate instruments according to IaS 39. fair values of the de-

rivates are recognised through profit and loss account.

1,000 eur 2007 2006

24. operatinG leases 

Group as a lessee  

0–1 years 1,196 1,140

1–5 years 4,232 4,164

later than 5 years 592 1,607

total 6,021 6,911   
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25. carryinG aMounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities by MeasureMent cateGories

Measurement principles of financial assets and liabilities

available-for-sale financial assets consist entirely of investments in unquoted stocks that are measured at cost because 

their fair value cannot be determined reliably with valuation models. the carrying amounts of trade receivables and other 

receivables correspond to their fair values because the effect of discounting in not substantial due to their short maturity 

period. the fair values of currency derivates are measured by using the market prices at balance sheet date. the fair values 

of interest-bearing liabilities are determined by discounted cash flows. the discount rate used is determined by using the 

group’s interest rate for corresponding interest-bearing liabilities at the balance sheet date. the total interest rate comprises 

risk-free interest rate and company specific margin. the carrying amounts of trade payables and other liabilities correspond 

to their fair values because the effect of discounting in not substantial due to their short maturity

 financial assets   financial carrying

 and liabilities  available- liabilities amounts by

 at fair value  for-sale measured at balance fair value

 through profil loans and financial amortised sheet by balance

2007 and loss receivables assets cost items sheet items

non-current financial assets       

non-current interest-bearing receivables 0 100 0 0 100 100

other non-current assets 0 272 15 0 288 288

non-current financial assets total 0 372 15 0 388 388

       

current financial assets       

trade receivables and other receivables 0 70,176 0 0 70,176 70,176

Current financial assets total 0 70,176 0 0 70,176 70,176

             

financial assets total 0 70,548 15 0 70,564 70,564

       

non-current financial liabilities       

non-current interest bearing liabilities 0 0 0 21,078 21,078 17,696

non-current financial liabilities total 0 0 0 21,078 21,078 17,696

       

current financial liabilities       

Current interest-bearing liabilities 0 0 0 34,606 34,606 37,551

derivate agreements 105 0 0 0 105 105

trade payables and other liabilities 0 0 0 36,506 36,506 36,506

Current financial liabilities total 105 0 0 71,113 71,217 74,162

             

financial liabilities total 105 0 0 92,190 92,295 91,858
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 financial assets   financial carrying

 and liabilities  available- liabilities amounts by

 at fair value  for-sale measured at balance fair value

 through profil loans and financial amortised sheet by balance

2006 and loss receivables assets cost items sheet items

non-current financial assets       

non-current interest-bearing receivables 0 100 0 0 100 100

other non-current assets 0 525 15 0 541 541

non-current financial assets total 0 625 15 0 641 641

       

current financial assets       

trade receivables and other receivables 0 62,694 0 0 62,694 62,694

derivate agreements 26 0 0 0 26 26

Current financial assets total 26 62,694 0 0 62,720 62,720

             

financial assets total 26 63,319 15 0 63,360 63,360

       

non-current financial liabilities       

non-current interest bearing liabilities 0 0 0 18,947 18,947 16,680

other non-current financial liabilities 0 0 0 112 112 112

non-current financial liabilities total 0 0 0 19,059 19,059 16,792

       

current financial liabilities       

Current interest bearing liabilities 0 0 0 26,068 26,068 27,857

derivate agreements 64 0 0 0 64 64

trade payables and other liabilities 0 0 0 32,398 32,398 32,398

Current financial liabilities total 64 0 0 58,467 58,531 60,320

             

financial liabilities total 64 0 0 77,526 77,591 77,112
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26. related party disclosures

a party is related to an entity if it controls, is controlled by, 

or is under common control with, the entity; or it has an 

interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over 

the entity; or has joint control over the entity. the group’s 

related party comprises of the group companies, parent 

company’s Board of directors and Corporate management 

team. there were no related party transactions in the 

current period or previous period.

27. financial risK ManaGeMent

the company’s Board of directors has confirmed the 

group’s financial risk management policy. the objective 

of the policy is to protect the group against unfavourable 

changes in the financial markets and thereby to safeguard 

the group’s earnings trend, equity and liquidity. the 

group’s financing and financial risk management have been 

centralised within the parent company’s finance function. 

the aims of centralising these functions are effective risk 

management, cost savings and optimisation of cash flow.

currency risk

Because the group operates in international markets, 

it is exposed to currency risks caused by exchange rate 

fluctuations. Sales and purchases in foreign currencies 

(transaction risk) as well as balance sheet items investments 

in and loans to foreign subsidiaries (valuation risk) create 

currency risk. Currency risks are hedged by using internal 

netting out, foreign currency loans, forward exchange 

agreements and currency options. however, currency 

options may be used at the most in half of the derivative 

agreements. derivatives are used only for hedging 

purposes. Currency risks are also hedged by the currency 

clauses in sales agreements. the majority of product sales 

and purchases of materials are conducted in euros.

the equity of the group’s subsidiaries at the end of the 

financial period was eur 23.3 million (2006: eur 21.2 

million).

Group’s valuation exposure by currency 

 2007  2006

eur 1,000 net investment net investment

Brl 15,064 11,475

ruB 4,865 5,317

Cad 99 2,584

mXn 626 506

Cny 2,125 842

uSd 451 438

total 23,230 21,161

the group’s interest-bearing liabilities are in euro amounts 

in their entirety. the group has not used derivative 

instruments to hedge valuation risk.

commodity risk

Changes in global economy may affect the prices and 

availability of raw materials. Copper price risks can be 

hedged with purchase agreements and raw materials 

futures and options. Changes in the prices of oil and metals 

can indirectly interfere the group’s operations if they 

reduce customers’ demand of products. Changes in energy 

prices do not have substantial effect in profit. according 

to the group’s risk management policy, a maximum of 50 

percent of the copper position can be hedged.

interest risk

Interest risk is involved mainly in interest-bearing liabilities 

in the balance sheet. the financing function monitors the 

interest risk of the loan portfolio and, when necessary, 

changes the interest rate maturity by means of forward 

rate agreements, options and interest rate swaps. at the 

end of 2007, 0.3% of the loan portfolio of the group 

consisted of fixed interest loans. the counterpart risk 

involved in loans has been minimised by making loan 

agreements with at least three accepted parties.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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the Group’s interest rate maturities at the balance sheet date 

1,000 eur under 6 mon. 6–12 mon. over 1 year total

floating-rate financial instruments    

 loans from financial

 institutions 12,595 43,089 0 55,524

fixed-rate financial instruments    

 Pension loans 0 161 0 161

total 12,595 43,250 0 55,684

sensitivity to market risk

sensitivity of operating profit to market risks connected with the Group’s operations.

the following table sets forth how changes in the main market risk factors from the group’s standpoint would affect the 

group’s operating profit. the calculation is based on assumptions of ordinary market and business conditions. the effect of 

hedging has not been taken into account.

average effect on operating profit net of hedging effects

  

eur million   2007 2006

10% change in the price of copper   +/- 1.1–1.2 +/- 1.4–1.5

10% change in foreign exchange rate between the euro and the dollar (uSd)  +/- 0.8 +/- 1.2

10% change in foreign exchange rate between the euro and the Swedish 

   krona (SeK)   +/- 2.1 +/- 1.5

10% change in the foreign exchange rate between the euro 

   and the Brazilian real (Brl)   +/- 1.6 +/- 1.4 
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sensitivity to market risks arising from financial instruments as required by ifrs 7 

the sensitivity analysis presented below, which is required under IfrS 7, illustrates the sensitivity of the group’s net profit 

and equity to a change in the price of copper, to foreign exchange rates between the euro and the uS dollar, and the euro 

and the Swedish krona, as well as to interest rates. the sensitivity is due to the financial instruments, financial assets and 

liabilities as well as derivative contracts that are included in the balance sheet for the financial period in accordance with the 

IfrS definition. financial instruments that are sensitive to the above-mentioned market risks are working capital items such 

as trade receivables and other receivables as well as trade payables and other liabilities, financial liabilities, deposits, cash 

and bank receivables, and derivative contracts.

sensitivity to market risks arising from financial instruments as required by ifrs 7  

  2007 2007 2006 2006

eur milliion income statement   equity income statement equity

+/- 10% change in the price of copper +/- 0.1 +/- 0.1 0 0

+/- 10% change in foreign exchange rate 

 between the euro and the uS dollar (uSd) +/- 0.4 +/- 0.4 +/- 0.4 +/- 0.4

+/- 10% change in foreign exchange rate 

 between the euro and the Swedish krona (SeK) +/- 0.3 +/- 0.3 +/- 0.3 +/- 0.3

+/- 1% change in market interest rates +/- 0.4 +/- 0.4 +/- 0.3 +/- 0.3

credit risk

Credit risk associated with investments made in the financial markets is minimised by making agreements with a sufficiently 

large number of leading and financially sound banks, financial institutions and other parties. Customers are granted only 

standard payment terms. loans are not granted to parties outside the group, nor are collateral, contingent liabilities or 

other obligations assumed as security for their liabilities. the same applied related parties of said companies.

aging of trade receivables 

  credit    credit

  recorded  net  recorded net

1,000 eur 2007 as a loss 2007 2006 as a loss 2006

not yet due 55,513 0 55,513 45,283 0 45,283

falling due in 30 days or less 3,920 0 3,920 6,574 0 6,574

due 31–60 days ago 372 0 372 649 0 649

due 61–90 days ago 403 0 403 1,028 0 1,028

due over 90 days ago 1,156 -189 967 2,022 0 2,022

total 61,365 -189 61,175 55,557 0 55,557

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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liquidity risk

liquidity risk means the risk of obtaining financing at any given time. the parent company’s treasury function is responsible 

for the group’s liquidity and the adequacy of financing. Sufficient liquidity is maintained by means of efficient cash 

management. at the balance sheet date, the group had a total of eur 35 million of credit and financing facilities, of which 

eur 11 million was unused. most of the parent company’s interest-bearing loans contained a covenant stating that the equity 

ratio according to the audited consolidated balance sheet be a minimum of either 30% or 35%, depending on the agreement.

Maturity analysis based on interest-bearing liability agreements 

1,000 eur 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013- total     

31.12.2007 

loans from financial institutions       

 repayments 34,595 7,000 4,500 3,714 2,929 2,786 55,524

 financing costs 1,831 864 569 378 218 107 3,976

 total 36,426 7,864 5,069 4,092 3,147 2,893 59,491

Pension loans       

 repayments 11 10 10 9 8 112 161

 financing costs 10 9 8 8 7 96 138

 total 21 19 18 17 16 208 299

       

total 36,447 7,883 5,087 4,109 3,163 3,101 59,789

       

31.12. 2006 

loans from financial institutions       

 repayments 26,057 6,496 3,856 2,916 2,170 2,137 43,632

 financing costs 986 525 326 199 109 38 2,183

 total 27,043 7,021 4,182 3,115 2,279 2,175 45,815

Pension loans       

 repayments 11 10 9 9 8 113 160

 financing costs 11 10 9 9 8 103 150

 total 22 20 18 18 16 216 310

       

total 27,065 7,041 4,200 3,133 2,295 2,391 46,125

capital management

the group’s objective when managing capital is to support its business by ensuring normal operating conditions and to increase 

owner’s value with target to gain maximum possible return. the optimal capital structure guarantees also the lowest capital 

costs. the capital structure is changed with dividend distributions and with share issues. the capital sctructure is continuously 

monitored with gearing ratio. the group’s gearing ratio was in the current period and previous period as follows:

Gearing 2007 2006

Interest-bearing liabilities, 1,000 eur 55,684 45,016

Cash and cash equivalents, 1,000 eur 10,426 8,060

net liabilities, 1,000 eur 45,258 36,955

equity total, 1,000 eur 82,980 72,544

gearing, % 54.5 50.9
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1,000 eur notes 2007 2006

    

net sales 1 177,260 142,588

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in stocks of 

finished goods and work in progress  2,643 -184

other operating income 2 1,667 1,818

raw materials and services 3 135,328 99,414

Staff expenses 4 20,059 18,808

depreciation and value adjustments 5 1,255 1,199

other operating expenses 6 9,549 9,430

operatinG profit  15,379 15,370

financial income and expenses 7 456 1,358

profit before eXtraordinary incoMe  15,835 16,728

extraordinary income 8 2,500 1,250

profit before taXes  18,335 17,978

appropriations 9 347 347

Income taxes 10 -4,469 -4,196

profit for the financial year  14,213 14,129
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1,000 eur notes 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

    

assets   

non-current assets   

Intangible assets 11 2,543 1,955

tangible assets 12 1,586 2,398

Investments 13  

 holdings in group companies  23,282 20,686

 other investments  235 235

non current assets total  27,647 25,274

   

current assets   

Inventories 14 22,359 17,992

non-current  15  

 other receivables  41,424 35,600

non-current receivables total  41,424 35,600

Current  15  

 trade receivables  43,865 42,085

 other non interest-bearing receivables  8,055 6,650

Current receivables total  51,920 48,735

Cash and cash equivalents  1,419 437

current assets total  117,123 102,764

assets total  144,769 128,038

   

liabilities   

shareholder’s equity 16  

Share capital  5,983 5,983

Share premium account  4,862 4,862

other reserves  166 166

retained earnings  17 43,458 37,331

Profit for the financial year  14,213 14,129

shareholder’s equity  68,682 62,471

   

appropriations 18 0 347

   

provisions 19 98 171

   

creditors 20  

non-current liabilities 21  

 other liabilities  21,078 19,687

non-current liabilities total  21,078 19,687

Current liabilities   

 trade payables  13,912 12,910

 other liabilities  40,999 32,452

Current liabilities total  54,911 45,362

creditors total  75,989 65,049

liabilities total  144,769 128,038
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

cash floWs froM operatinG activities  

Cash receipts from customers 174,114 135,769

Cash receipts from other operating income 1,566 3,443

Cash paid to suppliers and employees -162,036 -130,643

cash flows from operations before financial income and expenses and taxes 13,644 8,569

Interest paid -2,518 -1,090

Interest received and other financial income 1,855 805

Income taxes paid -5,265 -6,116

net cash from operating activities (a) 7,715 2,168

  

cash floWs froM investinG activities  

Purchase of tangible or intangible assets -1,277 -1,836

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 158 396

loans granted -10,778 -18,342

amortisations of loan received 4,610 3,052

aquisitions of subsidiaries -2,597 -2,228

dividends received 1,464 2,175

net cash used in financial activities (b) -8,419 -16,782

  

cash floWs froM financial activities  

Share issue 0 441

drawing of credits 18,843 26,435

amortisation of credits -10,405 -5,891

dividends paid -8,002 -7,971

group contributions received 1,250 0

net cash used in financial activities (c) 1,686 13,015

  

net increase (+) or decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c) 981 -1,600

  

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 437 2,037

cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1,419 437

change 981 -1,600
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foreign currency items

Business transactions in foreign currencies have been 

entered during the financial period by using the exchange 

rate on the transaction date. Balance sheet items open on 

the closing date of the financial period have been valued 

using the average rate on the date of closing the accounts. 

the exchange rate differences have been stated in the 

profit and loss account.

non-current assets 

non-current assets have been stated at their acquisition 

costs. depreciation on fixed assets is calculated according 

to predefined depreciation plan. the depreciation period 

based on estimated service duration are as follows

Intangible rights 4–5 years

other long-term expenditures 3–10 years

Buildings and constructions 5–20  years

machinery and equipment 3–10 years

other tangible assets 5–10 years

inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. Cost of the inventory is determined on the 

basis of the weighted average cost formula and, in contrast 

to previous accounting practise, it includes all of the direct 

costs and a proportional amount of indirect manufacturing 

costs. the net realisable value is the sales price less 

estimated costs to finish and sell the product.

net sales

net sales have been calculated from the group’s total 

revenue obtained from products produced, from which 

discounts and vat have been deducted.

research and development costs

research and development costs have been entered as 

expenses for the financial period during which they were 

included. 

rent for leased assets

the rent for leased assets was entered as a cost in the 

income statement.

pension costs

the retirement plans for employees are provided by 

external insurance companies.  Pension insurance payments 

have been entered in the financial statements on accrual 

basis corresponding with salaries.

 

direct taxes

direct taxes for the financial period have been entered in 

the profit and loss account on accrual basis. 
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

1. net sales by business seGMents 

and MarKet areas    

net sales by business segments   

wiring harnesses 177,260 142,588 

total 177,260 142,588 

   

net sales by market areas   

finland 17,698 12,598 

other europe 144,902 122,540 

north america 4,565 4,428 

South america 7,080 103 

others 3,016 2,919 

total 177,260 142 588 

   

2. other operatinG incoMe      

Income from sales of non-current assets 78 130 

grants 93 96 

other income 1,495 1,592 

total 1,667 1,818 

   

3. Materials and services      

raw materials and consumables   

Purchases during the financial period 102,246 76,736 

outsourced services 34,815 24,490 

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in stocks -1,733 -1,812 

total 135,328 99,414

1,000 eur 2007 2006 2005

4. staff eXpenses    

wages and salaries 16,287 15,304 17,614

defined pernsion contribution plans 2,748 2,562 2,676

other social expenses 1,024 941 1,450

total 20,059 18,808 21,740 

  

 1,000 eur 2007 2006 2005

salaries and fees to board and management      

wages and fees to Board members   

 eestilä matti, member from 30.3.2006 24 15 0

 hakalax tom, member until 30.3.2005 0 0 5

 Koskinen Juhani, member until 30.3.2006 0 5 17

 niemelä Jaakko, member from 30.3.2006 24 15 0

 ojala leo, member until 30.3.2006 0 5 17

 Palla endel 24 20 17

 Pohjanvirta olli, member from 29.3.2007 19 0 0

 ravaska veikko, member until 30.3.2006 0 5 20

 ruotsala matti, member from 30.3.2006 24 15 0

 Suonio risto, member until 29.3.2007 5 20 17

 Suutari harri 48 39 20

 tähtinen Jyrki 36 29 24

total 202 166 134

Salaries and fees to President(*   

 Kari mika 274 190 163

 Suutari harri 0 0 113

total 274 190 275

Salaries and fees to other members of 

management team 505 390 884

salaries and fees to management total 981 746 1 293

   

*) mika Kari was appointed PKC group oyj’s president and  

Ceo as from 1.9.2005. at the same time harri Suutari has been 

apppointed Chairman of the Board.   

   

   

avarage number of personnel   

Clerical employees 174 175 176

employees 265 278 392

total 439 453 568

   

personnel at the end of period 439 464 496
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

5. depreciation and value adJustMents    

depreciation according to plan 1,255 1,199

total 1,255 1,199

  

  

6. other operatinG eXpenses    

auditors’ fees 184 170

rents 1,655 1,752

other operating expenses 7,710 7,508

total 9,549 9,430  

auridors’ fees  

audits 78 91

assignments 1 1

tax services 5 18

other services 100 61

total 184 170 

  

  

7. financial incoMe and eXpenses    

dividend yields  

from group companies 1,463 2,174

total 1,463 2,174  

income from other investments held as 

  fixed assets  

from others 1 1

total 1 1  

other interest and financial income  

from group companies 2,274 1,068

from others 322 237

total 2,597 1,305

other interest and financial expenses  

from group companies  

from others -3,605 -2,122

total -3,605 -2,122

  

financial income and expenses total 456 1,358

  

financial income and expenses total  

includes net exchange rate differences -496 -787 

 

1,000 eur 2007 2006 

8. eXtraordinary iteMs    

extraordinary income  

from group companies/group 

Contributions received 2,500 1,250

total 2,500 1,250  

  

9. chanGe in appropriations    

Change in untaxed reserves 347 347

total 347 347

  

  

10. incoMe taXes  

Income taxes from actual operations -4,472 -4,195

Change in deferred tax assets  

  and liabilities 3 -1

total -4,469 -4,196
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1,000 eur

11. intanGible assets  other long- 

 intangible  term advance 

 rights expenditures payments total 

acquisition cost 1.1.2007 2,742 122 395 3,258

+ Increases 98 12 811 922

- decreases 0 0 -59 -59

+/- transfers 991 346 -991 346

acquisition cost 31.12.2007 3,830 480 157 4,468

    

accumulated depreciation and impairments 1.1.2007 1,267 37 0 1,304

+depreciation 537 84 0 621

accumulated depreciation and impairments 31.12.2007 1,804 121 0 1,924

    

book value 31.12.2007 2,027 360 157 2,543

book value 31.12.2006 1,475 85 395 1,955

12. tanGible assets     advance

  buildings Machinery other payments and  

  and  and  tangible acquisitions

  constructions equipment assets in progress total

acquisition cost 1.1.2007  1,552 9,827 209 305 11,894

+ Increases  0 148 0 44 192

- decreases  0 -323 0 0 -323

+/- transfers  0 0 0 -346 -346

+/- other changes  0 0 0 -3 -3

acquisition cost 31.12.2007  1,552 9,652 209 0 11,414

     

accumulated depreciation and impairments 1.1.2007  824 8,482 190 0 9,496

- accumulated depreciation of decreases and transfers 0 -302 0 0 -302

+ depreciation  82 534 18 0 634

accumulated depreciation and impairments 31.12.2007 906 8,714 208 0 9,828

     

book value 31.12.2007  646 938 1 0 1,586

book value 31.12.2006  728 1,345 20 305 2,398

     

13. investMents  other shares

 holdings in and similar

 Group rights of other

 companies ownership receivables total 

acquisition cost 1.1.2007 20,686 188 48 20,921

+ Increases 2,597 0 0 2,597

acquisition cost 31.12.2007 23,282 188 48 23,518

    

book value 31.12.2007 23,282 188 48 23,518

book value 31.12.2006 20,686 188 48 20,921
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shares and siMilar riGhts of oWnership 

  parent

 Group’s company’s

Group companies ownership, % ownership, %

PKC eesti aS 100 100

PK Cables do Brasil Industria e  

  Comercio ltda. 97 97

PK Cables nederland B.v. 100 0

PKC netherlands holding B.v. 100 100

Carhatec oy 100 100

tKv-sarjat oy 100 0

Carhatest oy 80 0

ooo Karhakos 100 0

ooo aeK 100 0

ooo PKC group Pskov 100 0

PKC group americas Inc. 100 0

PKC electronics oy 100 0

ooo elektrokos 100 0

ooo elektromeka 100 0

PKC wiring harness (Suzhou) Co., ltd. 100 0

PKC group Canada Inc. 100 0

PKC group mexico S.a. de C.v. 100 100

PKC group uSa Inc. 100 100

1,000 eur 2007 2006

14. inventories    

raw materials and supplies 14,410 12,677

work in progress 2,183 1,480

finished goods 5,764 3,823

advance payments 2 12

total 22,359 17,992  

15. receivables    

non-current other receivables    

from group companies  

 loan receivables 41,324 35,500

total 41,324 35,500 

from others  

 loan receivables 100 100

total 100 100

  

non-current other receivables total 41,424 35,600

  

non-current receivables total 41,424 35,600
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1,000 eur 2007 2006

current    

trade receivables    

from group companies 5,376 2,871

from others 38,489 39,214

total 43,865 42,085 

other receivables   

from group companies  

 loan receivables 362 1,507

 Prepayments and accrued income 3,374 1,920

total 3,737 3,426 

from others  

 loan receivables 2 1

 other receivables 2,705 1,781

 Prepayments and accrued income 1,612 1,442

total 4,319 3,224

current other receivables total 8,055 6,650 

current  receivables total 51,920 48,735

  

prepayments and accrued income   

from group companies  

 financial items 3,280 1,811

 others 94 109

total 3,374 1,920  

from others  

 Staff expenses 90 94

 financial items 14 6

 taxes 1,403 606

 others 104 736

total 1,612 1,442

  

  

1,000 eur 2007 2006 

16. share capital    

Share capital 1.1 5,983 5,952

Increase in share capital 0 31

share capital 31.12 5,983 5,983

  

Share premium account 1.1 4,862 4,452

Change 0 410

share premium account 31.12 4,862 4,862

  

reserve fund 1.1 166 166

reserve fund 31.12 166 166

  

retained earnings 1.1 51,460 45,302

dividend distribution -8,002 -7,971

retained earnings 31.12 43,458 37,331

  

profit for the financial year 14,213 14,129

total shareholders’ equity 68,682 62,471

17. calculation of 

distributable funds    

retained earnings 43,458 37,331

Profit for the financial year 14,213 14,129

distributable funds 31.12 57,671 51,460  

  

18. appropriations     

untaxed reserves 0 347

total 0 347

 

19. provisions    

Provisions for pensions 98 171

total 98 171

  

untaxed reserves are subject to a deferred tax assets of 

eur 25,480
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1,000 eur 2007 2006 

20. creditors    

non-current liabilities    

non-current other liabilities    

to group companies  

loans 0 740

total 0 740

to others  

loans from financial institutions 20,928 18,786

Pension loans 149 162

total 21,078 18,947

non-current other liabilities total 20,928 18,786

non-current liabilities total 21,078 19,687

  

current liabilities  

trade payables  

to group companies 2,694 2,393

to others 11,218 10,518

total 13,912 12,910 

current other liabilities  

to group companies  

accruals and deffered income 73 11

total 73 11

to others  

loans from financial institutions 34,595 27,548

Pension loans 11 11

accruals and deffered income 5,546 4,188

other liabilities 773 693

total 40,926 32,441

current other liabilities total 40,999 32,452

current  liabilities total 54,911 45,362 

1,000 eur 2007 2006 

accruals and deffered income    

to group companies  

 others  56 4

 financial items 17 7

total 73 11  

to others  

 Staff expenses 4,562 3,666

 financial items 692 366

 taxes 0 3

 others  292 153

total 5,546 4,188

  

loans falling due later than five years from now  

 loans from financial institutions 2,786 3,429

 Pension loans 112 120

total 2,897 3,549

    

    

21. coMMitMents and other liabilities    

amount to be paid for leasing commitments  

for the current financial period 167 102

falling due at a later date 170 83

total 337 185

  

liabilities related to current premises  

for the current financial period 1,015 1,015

falling due at a later date 4,653 5,668

total 5,668 6,683

  

contingent liabilities  

liabilities for currency derivates  

liabilities for raw material derivates  1,598 0

nominal values 3,279 3,990

fair value -192 2

  

derivates are used only in hedging currency and changing 

copper prices.  
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SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

share price and Monthly tradinG voluMe 2.1.2002–31.12.2007

Price
eur

monthly 
trading volume

PCS.

3,000,000

2,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

0

14.00

12.00

10.00

8.00

6.00

4.00

2.00

0.00

shares and shareholders

PKC group oyj’s share turnover on the omX nordic 

exchange helsinki from 1 January to 31 december 2007 

was 17,639,780 shares (11,402,932 shares), representing 

99.2% of the average number of shares (64.2%). Shares 

were traded to a total value of eur 185.1 million (154.7 

million). the low during the report year was eur 8.55 

(10.02) and the high was eur 12.40 (14.08). the closing 

price on the last trading day of the report period was eur 

8.70 (12.25) and the average price during the period was 

eur 10.48 (11.69). the company’s market capitalisation at 

31 december 2007 was eur 154.7 million (217.8 million).

Shares held by Board members, their related persons and 

corporations in which they have a controlling interest 

accounted for 2.9% (3.5%) of the total number of shares 

at the end of the report year. PKC group oyj had 6,505 

shareholders (5,998) at the end of the review period. the 

proportion of shares held by foreigners and by way of 

nominee registrations at 31 december 2007 was 28.1% of 

the shares outstanding (29.5%).

the board’s authorisations

the Board of directors has been granted authorisation by 

the annual general meeting on 29 march 2007 to decide on 

one or more share issues and the granting of special rights 

as defined in Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Companies act 

and on all the terms and conditions thereof. a maximum 

total of 3,500,000 shares may be issued or subscribed 

for on the basis of the authorisation. the authorisation 

includes the right to decide on a directed share issue. 

the authorisation shall be in force for five years from the 

date of the resolution of the annual general meeting. 

the authorisation may be used at the Board’s discretion 

for financing corporate acquisitions, for carrying out 

inter-company co-operation or similar arrangements, or 

for strengthening the company’s financing and capital 

structure.

the Board of directors does not have a valid authorisation 

to acquire the company’s own shares, and the company 

does not have any own shares (treasury shares) in its 

possession.
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stock option schemes

In 2006, PKC launched a stock option scheme according 

to which the maximum total number of stock options to 

be issued is 697,500, and they are divided into a, B and C 

warrants. at the end of the report period the company’s 

key personnel had a total of 202,500 2006a warrants and 

221,000 2006B warrants in their possession. 

the subscription period for shares through the exercise 

of stock options shall be during the years 2009–2013. the 

share subscription price for stock options shall be the 

volume-weighted average price of the PKC group oyj 

share on the omX nordic exchange helsinki, with dividend 

adjustments, as defined in the stock option terms (at 

present, eur 11.09 for the 2006a and 2006B warrants). 

through the exercise of the 2006 stock options, the share 

capital of PKC group oyj may be increased by a maximum 

total of 697,500 new shares and eur 234,673.67. the stock 

options 2006 are subject to a share ownership plan. Key 

personnel are obliged to subscribe for or purchase the 

company’s shares with 20% of the gross income earned 

from stock options and to own these shares for two years. 

the company’s President and Ceo is obliged to own these 

shares for the duration of his managerial contract.

dividends for the 2006 financial year

the annual general meeting held on 29 march 2007 passed 

a resolution to pay a dividend of eur 0.45 per share for the 

year 2006, or a total about 8.0 million. the dividend was 

paid out on 12 april 2007.

MaJor shareholders on 31.12.2007  % of shares 

 pcs. and votes

1. as harju elekter 1,580,003 8.9

2. tapiola mutual Pension Insurance Company 809,600 4.6

3. odin norden c/o odin forvaltning aS 653,850 3.7

4. oP-Suomi Pienyhtiöt 596,461 3.4

5. takanen Jorma 367,860 2.1

6. ravaska veikko 345,200 1.9

7. laakkonen mikko 310,000 1.7

8. eestilä matti 300,000 1.7

9. mutual fund nordea nordic Small Cap 253,306 1.4

10. Sampo Suomi osake mutual fund 203,700 1.1

10 major holders total 5,419,980 30.5

nominee registered  

Svenska handelsbanken ab 1,504,522 8.5

other nominee registered 1,093,611 6.1

others 9,763,409 54.9

total 17,781,522 100.0
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shares and options held by the board and ManaGeMent on 31.12.2007 

    ownership of close

  number  persons and

   of shares and shares controlled 

board of directors votes, pcs. and votes, % corporations, pcs options, pcs.

eestilä matti 300,000 1.7     0 0

niemelä Jaakko   0  0 2,000 0

Palla endel 112,000 0.6 0 0

Suutari harri 100,000 0.6 0 0

    

Management team    

Kari mika 1,000 0 0 60,000

Klemola Sami 0 0 0 15,000

rajala Jarmo 0 0 0 25,000

rytky mika 0 0 0 30,000

 

distribution of share oWnership by oWner cateGories on 31.12.2007  % of shares 

    and votes

domestic companies   8.3

financial institutions and insurance companies   10.5

Public institutions   6.2

non-profit organisations   4.6

households and private investors   42.3

foreign investors (including nominee registered shares)   28.1

total   100.0

distribution of share oWnership by siZe of shareholdinG on 31.12.2007

shares per shareholders shareholders shares votes

 number % pcs. % pcs. %

1–100 755 11.6 56,505 0.3 56,505 0.3

101–500 2,623 40.3 804,296 4.5 804,296 4.5

501–1,000 1,599 24.6 1,222,792 6.9 1,222,792 6.9

1,001–5,000 1,280 19.7 2,762,164 15.5 2,762,164 15.5

5,001–10,000 144 2.2 1,047,115 5.9 1,047,115 5.9

10,001–50,000 67 1.0 1,430,225 8.0 1,430,225 8.0

50,001–100,000 11 0.2 756,457 4.3 756,457 4.3

100,001–500,000 20 0.3 3,978,704 22.4 3,978,704 22.4

500,001–  6 0.1 5,723,264 32.2 5,723,264 32.2

total, 6,505 100.0 17,781,522 100.0 17,781,522 100.0

of which nominee registered 10  2,598,133 14.6  
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return on equity (roe), % 100 x
 Profit before extraordinary items - taxes

  Shareholders equity + minority interest (average)

return on investments (roI), % 100 x
 Profit before extraordinary items + interest and other financial expenses

  Balance sheet total - interest free liabilities (average)

gearing, % 100 x
 Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents and investments

  Shareholders equity + minority interest

equity ratio, % 100 x
 Shareholders equity + minority interest

  Balance sheet total - advance payments received

Quick ratio
  receivables and cash in hand and at banks

  Current creditors - advance payments received

Current ratio
  receivables and cash and cash equivalents + inventories

  Current creditors

earnings per share (ePS), eur
  Profit before extraordinary items - income taxes +/- minority interest

  average share issue-adjusted number of shares

Shareholders’ equity per share, eur
  Shareholders equity

  Share issue-adjusted number of shares on the date of the financial statement

dividend per share, eur
  dividend paid for financial year

  Share issue-adjusted number of shares on the date of the financial statement

dividend per earnings, % 100 x
 dividend per share

  earnings per share

effective dividend yield, % 100 x
 Share issue-adjusted dividend per share

  Share issue-adjusted average share price at the closing date

Price per earnings (P/e)
  Share issue-adjusted average share price at the closing date

  earnings per share

market capitalisation  number of shares at the end of the financial year x the last trading  

  price of the financial year
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      fas(1

  2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

five year revieW

financial Key indicators, consolidated GroW

net sales, 1,000 eur  288,649 228,928 198,789 177,697 146,048

Change in net sales, %  26.1 15.2 11.9 21.7 8.8

operating profit, 1,000 eur  28,171 24,249 26,728 20,799 18,428

% of net sales  9.8 10.6 13.4 11.7 12.6

Profit before taxes, 1,000 eur  25,642 22,751 27,258 19,562 18,070

net profit, 1,000 eur  17,374 15,552 18,813 13,177 12,026

% of net sales  6.0 6.8 9.5 7.4 8.2

return on equity (roe), %  22.6 22.8 33.8 27.5 31.9

return on investment (roI), %   23.4 24.1 32.3 28.6 36.7

gearing, %  54.5 50.9 31.6 64.1 24.5

equity ratio, %  47.2 48.0 55.6 44.2 56.9

Quick ratio  1.1 1.2 1.5 1.3 1.5

Current ratio  1.8 1.8 2.3 2.4 2.5

gross capital expanditure, 1,000 eur  10,791 20,018 11,410 13,321 10,210

% of net sales  3.7 8.7 5.7 7.5 7.0

r&d expenses, 1,000 eur  5,511 4,906 3,800 4,034 3,230

% of net sales  1.9 2.1 1.9 2.3 2.2

Personnel, average  4,971 4,013 3,506 2,742 1,723

     

Key indicators for shares  

earnings per share (ePS), eur  0.98 0.88 1.07 0.76 0.73

earnings per share (ePS), diluted, eur (3  0.98 0.87 1.06 0.75 -

Shareholders’ equity per share, eur  4.62 4.04 3.64 2.75 2.61

dividend per share, eur (2  0.45 0.45 0.45 0.20 0.83

dividend per earnings, % (2  45.9 51.1 42.1 27.3 113.5

effective dividend yield, % (2  3.7 3.7 4.1 2.0 11.7

Price/earnings ratio (P/e)  8.9 13.9 10.2 14.0 7.7

Share price at the end of the year, eur  8.70 12.25 10.90 10.25 7.07

lowest share price during the year, eur  8.55 10.02 9.21 7.06 2.25

highest share price during the year, eur  12.40 14.08 12.25 10.67 7.77

average share issue-adjusted number of 

  shares, 1,000 shares  17,764 17,756 17,607 17,417 16,385

Share issue-adjusted number of shares at the end 

  of the financial year, 1,000 shares  17,782 17,782 17,689 17,461 17,245

market capitalisation, 1,000 eur  154,699 217,824 192,815 178,970 121,862

dividend, 1,000 eur  (2  8,002 8,002 7,971 3,509 14,469

     

1)  year 2003 is prepared according to finnish gaaP. the figures of 2004, 2005, 2006, and 2007 are prepared according 

 to IfrS standards.       

2) the figures of 2007 are based on the Board of director’s proposal. the figure of 2003 includes surplus dividend of 

 eur 0.5 in addition to the dividend decision of the annual general meeting.      

3) earnings per share (ePS), diluted is not presented in 2003 because it would exceed the undiluted earnings per 

 share (ePS)      
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      fas(1

1,000 eur  2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

     

consolidated profit and loss account     

net sales  288,649 228,928 198,789 177,697 146,048

operating profit  28,171 24,249 26,728 20,799 18,428

Profit before taxes  25,642 22,751 27,258 19,562 18,070

Profit for the financial year  17,374 15,552 18,813 13,177 12,026

    

consolidated balance sheet     

aSSetS     

non-current assets  48,393 43,647 33,687 27,453 18,633

Current assets  127,556 107,369 83,347 81,764 60,940

total assets  175,949 151,016 117,034 109,217 79,573

     

lIaBIlItIeS     

Shareholders’ equity  82,980 72,544 65,036 48,238 45,058

minority interest  789 646 593 284 258

non-current creditors  21,752 19,941 15,487 21,595 10,228

Current creditors  71,217 58,531 36,510 39,384 24,029

total liabilities  175,949 151,016 117,034 109,217 79,573

siGnatures

Kempele, 7 february 2008

 harri Suutari matti eestilä Jaakko niemelä

 Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

 endel Palla olli Pohjanvirta matti ruotsala

 Board member Board member Board member

 Jyrki  tähtinen mika Kari

 Board member President and Ceo
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to the shareholders of pKc Group oyJ

we have audited the accounting records, the report of the Board of directors, the financial statements and the administration 

of PKC group oyj for the period 1.1.–31.12.2007. the Board of directors and the Ceo have prepared the consolidated financial 

statements, prepared in accordance with International financial reporting Standards as adopted by the eu, as well as the 

report of the Board of directors and the parent company’s financial statements, prepared in accordance with prevailing 

regulations in finland, containing the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes to 

the financial statements. Based on our audit, we express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, as well as on 

the report of the Board of directors, the parent company’s financial statements and the administration.

we conducted our audit in accordance with finnish Standards on auditing. those standards require that we perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the report of the Board of directors and the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement. an audit includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 

in the report and in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. the purpose of our audit of the 

administration is to examine whether the members of the Board of directors and the Ceo of the parent company have 

complied with the rules of the Companies act.

consolidated financial statements

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with International financial reporting 

Standards as adopted by the eu, give a true and fair view, as defined in those standards and in the finnish accounting act, 

of the consolidated results of operations as well as of the financial position. 

parent company’s financial statements, report of the board of directors and administration

In our opinion the parent company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the finnish accounting  

act and other applicable finnish rules and regulations. the parent company’s financial statements give a true and fair view 

of the parent company’s result of operations and of the financial position. 

In our opinion, the report of the Board of directors has been prepared in accordance with the finnish accounting act and 

other applicable finnish rules and regulations. the report of the Board of directors is consistent with the consolidated 

financial statements and the parent company’s financial statements and gives a true and fair view, as defined in the finnish 

accounting act, of the result of operations and of the financial position.

the consolidated financial statements and the parent company’s financial statements can be adopted and the members of 

the Board of directors and the Ceo of the parent company can be discharged from liability for the period audited by us. the 

proposal by the Board of directors regarding the disposal of distributable funds is in compliance with the Companies act.

In oulu, february 7, 2008 

ernst & young oy

authorized Public accountant firm

rauno Sipilä

authorized Public accountant



69

PKC group oyj complies with the Corporate governance 

recommendations for listed Companies issued by omX, 

the finnish Central Chamber of Commerce and the 

Confederation of finnish Industry and employers. the 

key sections of the Company’s Corporate governance 

guidelines ratified by the Board of directors are described 

in the annual report. the guidelines are published in their 

entirety on the company’s website.

General MeetinG of shareholders

the highest power of decision is vested in the general 

meeting. each shareholder is entitled to participate in the 

general meeting and to exercise the right to speak and 

to vote, with each share carrying one vote. In order to 

realise interaction between shareholders and the company’s 

governing bodies, as well as the right of shareholders to 

ask questions, the President, Chairman of the Board of 

directors, and a sufficient number of Board members shall 

be present at the general meeting, along with, if necessary, 

the auditor and such persons that have been proposed 

for Board membership for the first time. the annual 

general meeting is held, upon completion of the financial 

statements, on the day specified by the Board of directors, 

no later than by the end of June. In 2007, the annual 

general meeting was held on 29 march 2007.

board of directors

the Board of directors is responsible for the company’s 

administration and the due organisation of operations. 

the Board’s liabilities include the duties appointed to it 

in the Companies act and in the articles of association. 

the Board’s main duties include confirming the Company’s 

strategy and budget, approving the principles of risk 

management and ensuring the functioning of the 

management system. 

the Board of directors has drafted a written charter for 

its operations, which defines the key tasks and operating 

principles of the Board of directors. the charter, the key 

content of which is described herein, is published in its 

entirety on the company’s website.

the annual general meeting elects 5–7 members to the 

Board for a term ending at the next annual general 

meeting. Board members are elected such that they have 

the required competence for the task and represent both a 

wide range of expertise and the viewpoint of shareholders. 

the majority of the Board members must be independent 

of the company and at least two of said majority must be 

independent of the company’s significant shareholders. 

the Board of directors evaluates the independence of its 

members annually and the independence is reported in the 

annual report and on the company’s website under the 

Board members’ presentation.

the 2007 annual general meeting elected seven members 

to the Board, and these members are presented in the 

appropriate section in this annual report. the Board elects 

from among its members a Chairman, who according to the 

articles of association cannot be the company’s President. 

after the 2007 annual general meeting, harri Suutari 

was appointed as Chairman and Jyrki tähtinen as vice 

Chairman. the duties and responsibilities of the Chairman 

and other members have not been designated specifically.

In 2007, the Board held 15 meetings, of which 6 were 

telephone meetings, in addition to which two decision 

minutes were drafted without holding a meeting. the 

average attendance of Board members at the meetings  

was 97%.

the Board has not deemed it necessary to establish 

separate committees, since, taking into account the scope 

and nature of the company’s operations as well as the 

Board’s working methods, the Board is able to handle 

matters effectively without such committees. 

each year, the Board independently evaluates the 

effectiveness of its performance and working methods with 

an eye on development opportunities. the evaluation was 

conducted for the first time for the year 2004.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE
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president and ceo

the company’s President and Ceo since 1 September 

2005 has been mika Kari. the President’s duties include 

operational management, informing the Board, presenting 

matters over which the Board has the power of decision, 

implementing the decisions of the Board, ensuring the 

legality of business operations, as well as investor relations.

the Board appoints the company’s President and specifies 

his service terms and conditions in writing. the President’s 

service contract is valid until further notice.

other ManaGeMent

the tasks of the group’s Corporate management team 

are to improve operations, carry out strategic work, 

monitor the realisation of the objectives and action plans 

set in strategic work and deal with other matters of vital 

importance for the company’s operations. the Corporate 

management team comprises the President and Ceo 

(Chairman), the vice Presidents of the business segments 

and the Chief financial officer. the Corporate management 

team convenes monthly. the members of the Corporate 

management team are presented in the appropriate 

section in this annual report.

the group’s operations are divided into two business 

segments corresponding to its core competence areas, 

wiring harnesses and electronics, the management teams 

of which convene monthly. their task is to deal with 

operative issues and assess the development needs and 

future requirements of their respective business segments. 

the management teams of the business segments comprise 

the vice President of the business segment (Chairman) and 

directors and managers responsible for operations and 

customer accounts. 

In a matrix organisation, operations are divided into plants, 

customer accounts and group-wide functions, which are 

production, logistics and sourcing, technology and quality 

development as well as finance and administration.

the managing directors and Boards of the subsidiaries 

take decisions on policies and strategies related to business 

operations within a framework approved by the Board of 

PKC group oyj. the Boards of the subsidiaries are primarily 

composed of representatives of the management of the 

group’s parent company and its subsidiaries.

audit

the annual general meeting elects an auditor approved 

by the finnish Central Chamber of Commerce as the 

company’s auditor. the authorised public accounting firm 

ernst & young oy carries out the company’s audit, with 

rauno Sipilä, authorised Public accountant, acting as the 

responsible auditor. the auditor’s term expires after the 

conclusion of the next annual general meeting following 

the election.

salaries and reMuneration

board of directors

the annual general meeting confirms the remuneration 

paid to the Board of directors. In 2007 the annual general 

meeting decided to pay the Chairman eur 50,000 per 

term, the vice Chairman eur 37,500 per term and other 

members eur 25,000 per term, in addition to travel and 

accommodation expenses related to the Board’s meetings. 

the company does not pay the Board members fees on any 

other basis, nor does it grant them loans or give guarantees 

on their behalf. Board members are not included in the 

company’s 2006 Stock option Scheme. the remuneration 

paid for the year 2007 has been presented in the notes to 

the financial statements.

president and ceo

the Board of directors confirms the President’s salary and 

other benefits. the President is included in the group’s 

bonus system, with the annual bonus being a maximum of 

six months’ salary, depending on the achievement of the 

objectives set for each year. the President is included in the 

year 2006 Stock option Scheme, and was granted 30,000 

stock options in 2007. the President has not been granted 

shares or other share-related rights as compensation. the 

company does not pay the President fees on any other 

basis, nor does it grant him loans or give guarantees on 

his behalf. the salaries, remuneration and total number of 

stock options paid to the President for the year 2007 are 

presented in the notes to the financial statements.

the President’s service contract has a provision for a notice 

period of three months on the President’s part and six 

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE
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months on the company’s part. moreover, if the contract 

is terminated by the company, the President is entitled to 

a monetary compensation equivalent to 15 months’ total 

salary, which includes the salary for the period of notice 

as well as a prorated share of the result based incentive 

corresponding to the period of employment in full months 

during the financial year in question. the retirement age is 

statutory and no voluntary pension insurance policies have 

been taken. 

other management

the Board of directors decides on the salaries and 

benefits of the members of the Corporate management 

team. Salaries are set in accordance with the demands 

of the job and the responsibilities, professional skills and 

expertise it entails. Salaries may comprise cash salaries 

and benefits. the salaries are reviewed annually by the 

Board of directors. In line with the principles approved by 

the Board of directors, the group has adopted a result-

based incentive system. the incentive is dependent on the 

achievement of annual objectives set for the performance 

and efficiency of the group and each responsibility area 

and/or the achievement of specific targets. the maximum 

incentive is the salary of six months. the members of the 

Corporate management team are included in the year 

2006 Stock option Scheme, and in 2007, excluding the 

President, they were granted 45,000 stock options in total. 

the company has not granted shares as compensation. 

no remuneration for meetings is paid to members of the 

group’s Corporate management team or the management 

teams of the business segments. the company does not 

pay the members of the Corporate management team fees 

on any other basis, nor does it grant them loans or give 

guarantees on their behalf. the salaries, remuneration 

and total number of stock options paid to the members 

of the Corporate management team for the year 2007 are 

presented in the notes to the financial statements.

the members of the Corporate management team have 

employment contracts valid until further notice, with a 

notice period of three months on a member’s part and 

six months on the company’s part, and without separate 

severance payment or other compensation. the retirement 

age is statutory and no voluntary pension insurance policies 

have been taken.

auditor

In line with a resolution by the annual general meeting, 

the auditor’s fees and travel expenses are paid according to 

a reasonable invoice. the audit fees for the year 2007 and 

other fees for non-audit services paid to the auditor are 

presented in the notes to the financial statements.

insider issues

the company complies with the Insider guidelines of the 

helsinki Stock exchange. the company’s public insider 

register includes the President and Ceo, the deputy 

Ceo, Board members, the auditor and the employee of 

the authorised public accounting firm with the main 

responsibility for the audit. In addition the company has 

defined the members of the Corporate management 

team as persons subject to the disclosure requirement 

under the public insider register. the company’s public 

insider register has been presented in its entirety on the 

company’s website. the company’s internal, non-public, 

company-specific insiders include persons belonging to the 

management teams of the business segments and other 

persons who regularly handle insider information during 

the performance of their duties. when major projects are 

ongoing, project-specific insider registers are also used.

the company recommends that the insiders acquire the 

company’s shares as long-term investments and do not 

participate in active trading. It is also recommended to 

schedule the trading within 30 days after the publication 

of financial reports, taking, however, into account the 

restrictions that possible insider information imposes. 

the insiders may not trade in the company’s shares or 

share-related rights within the 30-day period prior to 

the publication of the company’s interim reports or the 

financial statement bulletin, and this closed window ends 

on the day following the publication of financial results.
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the PKC group’s risk management is an essential part of 

the management of the group’s business operations and 

the group’s management system. It supports decision-

making, strategic and planning processes, the continuity 

of operations and reporting. Systematic risk assessment is 

used to identify and prevent events that affect business 

operations adversely, which, if they materialise, could have 

a negative impact on relationships with customers and 

other stakeholders, profitability and shareholder value.  

the processes of risk management progress hand in hand 

with the strategic process, and achieved results are utilised 

systematically as part of annual planning. 

internal supervision

the Board of directors is responsible for internal 

supervision, while the President and Ceo is responsible 

for the practical arrangements concerning supervision. 

the Board of directors oversees that the President and 

Ceo attends to the day-to-day administration of the 

company in accordance with its instructions and orders. 

the Board also makes sure that appropriate arrangements 

exist for monitoring the company’s accounting and the 

administration of its finances.

Internal supervision methods include internal guidelines, 

reporting and various technical systems related to 

operations. Special attention is paid to the organisation of 

functions, the professional skill of employees, operating 

instructions, reporting and the extent of the audit.

principles and orGanisation of risK ManaGeMent

the principle behind risk management is to identify key 

risks related to operations, and to define the procedures, 

responsibilities and timetables related to efficient risk 

management. the significance of risks is determined on the 

basis of their probability and financial effects.

the Board of directors of PKC group approves risk 

management policy and takes responsibility for the 

continuous monitoring of the results and procedures 

of risk management. In addition, it is responsible for 

the assessment of the functionality of risk management 

processes and management systems.

the risk management team is responsible for the risk 

management strategy and principles at the group level, 

as well as for monitoring the success of risk management 

within a framework provided by the Board. the directors 

of functions and units are responsible for the practical 

implementation of risk management processes. the group’s 

risk management function is responsible for monitoring the 

implementation of risk management, developing systems, 

maintenance and reporting to the group’s management.

strateGic risKs

the Board of directors of the parent company determines 

the group’s risk exposure and makes decisions on taking 

strategic risks, such as significant individual investments, 

corporate and real estate acquisitions and other actions 

that are extraordinary or far-reaching in terms of the 

scope and nature of the company’s operations. decisions 

on strategic risks are taken after careful and extensive 

preparation, in which experts from within and, if necessary, 

from outside the company are used.

operational risKs

operational risks comprise all the factors that may 

jeopardise or prevent the achievement of set business 

objectives. the main responsibility for hedging operational 

risks lies with the different functions. group administration 

co-ordinates and advises on risk management matters as 

well as decides on the group’s risk management measures. 

Continuity plans aim at securing substitute resources for 

personnel, premises, production machinery and equipment, 

raw and other materials and transportation.
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business environment risks and business cycles

Business cycles in the world economy and trends in the 

automotive, electronics and telecommunications industries’ 

markets influence demand for the products manufactured 

by PKC as well as the group’s financial position in the short 

term. the long-term effects are evened out by the wide 

geographical spread of the operations of PKC’s customers, 

the ability to operate in different customer industries and 

long-term co-operation with our main customers.

Market and customer risks

the group’s operations depend greatly on agreements 

concluded with a few internationally operating customers 

and on the trend in their businesses. In order to reduce the 

risk resulting from this narrow customer base, the group 

focuses on its core areas of expertise and on developing 

its know-how in order to ensure that its present customer 

relationships are maintained and deepened. In addition, 

the group seeks to expand its clientele in the present 

business areas.

typically, the customer sectors are subject to a continuous 

downward trend in prices. Cost-efficiency is improved by 

means of continuous product development, rationalising 

operations, seeking out new, more flexible ways of 

working, inviting competitive bids from suppliers of 

materials and moving production to countries with lower 

labour costs.

technological risks

demand for design and product development services is 

growing in the key customer sectors. PKC prepares for 

an increase in demand for design capacity by developing 

its own product development function and signing 

co-operation agreements with experienced providers of 

design and product development services.

political, cultural and legislative developments

PKC’s production operations are spread out over a wide 

geographical area. unfavourable political, economical or 

legislative changes could impair the group’s cost-efficiency 

and/or have a detrimental effect on the group’s operations 

in some countries. risks connected with emerging countries 

are contained by decentralising production across different 

countries, complying with the legislation of each country, 

maintaining functional co-operation networks and making 

continuity plans.

risks related to the production process

Internal assessments with consistent benchmarks are used 

to track the efficiency and appropriateness of processes 

and ways of working. the results of the assessments are 

utilised for the continuous improvement of operations 

and increasing the efficiency of response times. with 

manufacturing processes taking place mainly in the 

subsidiaries, the consistency, functionality, controllability 

and efficiency of business processes take on an even more 

important role.

PKC ensures the efficiency of its production by, among 

other things, developing the working environment, 

keeping production machinery up-to-date and increasing 

operational reliability and the degree of automation.

purchasing and logistics risks

raw materials account for an important share of the overall 

costs of end products. Purchasing prices are negotiated on a 

centralised basis, suppliers are asked to submit competitive 

bids and efforts are made to find alternative suppliers.

disturbances in the delivery or transportation of raw 

materials which are due to goods suppliers can cause 

interruptions to both PKC’s and its customers’ production. 

alternative suppliers cannot be found quickly for all 

components. the company seeks to limit this risk by means 

of finding alternative suppliers, supplier audits, good 

cooperation with customs officials, buffer stocks and 

developing the professional skills of the employees of its 

logistics function. risks connected with interruptions and 

transportation have been hedged with group-wide insurance 
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programmes and supplementary local insurance policies.

the trend in the world economy may affect the prices 

and availability of raw materials. risks related to copper 

prices can be hedged through purchasing agreements and 

by means of raw materials futures and options. Similarly, 

changes in the prices of oil and metals can indirectly 

hamper the group’s operations if price fluctuations lead to 

a drop in demand for its customers’ products. fluctuations 

in the price of electric energy do not have a significant 

effect on financial performance.

rapid changes in forecasts submitted by customers, short 

delivery times and suppliers’ fairly long delivery times as 

well as the short life cycles of products pose challenges for 

inventory management. the control of material flows takes 

place via an operations control system covering the entire 

production network.

liability risks

PKC is prepared for property and liability risks (incl. product 

liability, operational liability and management liability) 

by means of insurance programmes covering the entire 

group and through supplementary local insurance policies. 

despite the preventive and restrictive measures, PKC may 

face claims for damages that are not covered by insurance 

policies due to the extent or nature of the damages. the 

scope of insurance coverage is actively monitored and 

developed together with experts in the industry.

It is possible that the PKC group may face demands arising 

from the defectiveness of products. the group seeks to limit 

the liabilities arising from these factors through agreements 

and by taking out comprehensive insurance coverage. 

written agreements with major customers, suppliers and 

co-operation partners are used to specify the operating 

procedures and conditions needed for preventing the 

materialisation of risks, dividing responsibilities and 

minimising any damage that may occur.

quality and environMental risKs

Investment in the quality of products and operations is 

a cornerstone of and an absolute requirement for the 

company’s operations. Potential quality risks affecting 

customers’ operations can be eliminated with the 

systematic development of the quality of products and 

operations. Particular attention is paid to quality assurance 

when starting up new units and products as well as 

transferring production.

even though the environmental impacts of its business 

operations are slight, the group strives to continuously 

minimise such effects.

personnel risKs

the personnel’s importance to company’s development 

and competitiveness is crucial. In accordance with the 

human resources strategy, the focus in the management of 

personnel risks is on developing competence, commitment 

and well-being at work. the development of competence 

is based on the company’s business strategies. these 

strategies include a definition of the required competence 

and the means to secure such competence.

deputy systems guarantee that if any employee is 

prevented from working or if their employment comes 

to an end, this will not hinder the company’s overall 

competence or cause interruptions in its operations. 

employees are offered competitive fringe benefits and they 

are encouraged to develop their own professional skills.
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labour protection and corporate security risKs

the company’s labour protection and occupational safety 

programme encompasses both the physical and psychosocial 

working environment. effective labour protection is 

systematic and based on the assessment of working 

environment risks, jointly formulated plans and security 

practices. labour protection that aims at maintaining the 

health of employees, preventing accidents and sickness and 

the safe and ergonomic operation of production machinery 

is a key element in supporting the group’s business 

operations and the improvement of quality, efficiency and 

delivery accuracy. 

Safety plans, which are specific to business locations, aim 

to achieve operational conditions in which the company’s 

safety risks are at an acceptable level and damage and 

accidents are prevented effectively. the safety plans contain 

business location specific descriptions of operational models 

for different types of emergency and disturbance situations 

and the means of limiting such situations.

inforMation security and  

inforMation systeM risKs

the group’s information security policy and guidelines 

specify minimum-level procedures and working instructions 

for ensuring and maintaining group-wide information 

security. the personnel’s behaviour forms an integral part 

of information security, and the information security risk 

can be minimised by systematically training personnel.

effective information systems and telecommunications 

connections as well as real-time information transfer 

between customers, suppliers and the group’s various 

manufacturing units are an absolute must for business 

operations. disturbances in telecommunications and 

deficient capacity are a major risk for efficient business 

operations. PKC strives to minimise this risk by using 

doubled and decentralised operator connections. new 

alternatives for communications links are explored regularly.

new business locations and companies are integrated 

to use a single production and logistics control system 

covering the entire production network.

By means of continuous monitoring and the seeking of more 

effective solutions that provide greater information security, 

the group endeavours to ensure that the information 

security of applications and systems remains at an acceptable 

level. a recovery plan is in place to ensure that operations 

can be continued should any failure or disturbance occur.

financial risKs

financial risks are described in the notes to the financial 

statements.
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harri Suutari Jyrki tähtinen Jaakko niemelä matti eestilä endel Palla

olli Pohjanvirta matti ruotsala

board of directors

harri suutari (b. 1959)

Chairman since 1 September 2005. member of the Board of 

directors since 2005. engineer. Previously President and Ceo 

of PKC group oyj (13 march 2002 – 31 august 2005), Ponsse 

Plc (1994–2000) and Kajaani automatiikka oy (1984–1996). 

member of the Board of directors of alma media 

Corporation. not independent of the company (service 

relationship with the company during the last three years 

prior to the inception of the board membership).

Matti eestilä (b. 1949)

member of the Board of directors since 2006. engineer

entrepreneur. Previously Ceo of Betonimestarit oy 

(1988–2000) and director of lujabetoni oy’s Concrete 

element division (1973–1988). Independent of the company 

and its significant shareholders.

Jaakko niemelä (b. 1963)

member of the Board of directors since 2006. dr. (econ.). 

Ceo of Pro value Corporate finance oy. Previously Ceo 

(1999–2003) and head analyst (1998–1999) of mandatum 

Stockbrokers ltd, and prior to this analyst and head analyst 

in the stock brokerage firms Pankkiiriliike Protos oy and 

opstock oy (1994–1998). Independent of the company and 

its significant shareholders.

endel palla (b. 1941)

member of the Board of directors since 1994. electronics 

engineer. Chairman of the Supervisory Board and 

development director of aS harju elekter. employed 

with aS harju elekter since 1983, holding the positions of 

development director (1999–), managing director (1991–

1999), technical director (1983–1991) and prior to that 

working in management duties with the electrotechnical 

division of aS harju KeK. Chairman or member of the 

Supervisory Boards of aS harju elekter and its subsidiaries 

and affiliated companies, and member of the Supervisory 

Boards of aS harju KeK, aS Kelmo and aS laagri vara. not 

independent of the company (Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board and development director of aS harju elekter, which  

is a lessor of PKC’s subsidiary and a significant shareholder  

in PKC). 

olli pohjanvirta (b. 1967)

member of the Board of directors since 2007. ll.m. head 

of hannes Snellman attorneys at law ltd’s operations 

in russia and ukraine. Partner with hannes Snellman 

attorneys at law ltd (2006–), Partner with etl law offices 

ltd (1993–2006), attending to legal tasks related to russia 

and other CIS countries since 1993. member of the Board of 

directors of John nurminen oy, nurminen autoholding oy, 

nurminen logistics Plc, hS holdings ltd, Zao vepsäläinen 

and Skandia autologistics oy. Independent of the company 

and its significant shareholders.

Matti ruotsala (b. 1956)

member of the Board of directors since 2006. m.Sc. (eng.). 

President of fortum generation, fortum Corporation. 

Previously vice President of agCo Corporation and 

managing director of valtra oy ab (2005–2007), Chief 

operating officer and deputy Ceo of KCI Konecranes Plc 

(2001–2004), technical director and Commercial  director 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
ON DECEMBER 31, 2007
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mika Kari Sami Klemola Jarmo rajala mika rytky

of KCI Konecranes Plc (1995–2000) and asia Pacific area 

director of the crane business of Kone Corporation 

(1991–1994). member of the Board of directors of larox 

Corporation and oy halton group ltd, oKg aB and 

forsmarks Kraftgrupp aB, President of the european 

Committee of associations of agricultural machinery 

(Cema). Independent of the company and its significant 

shareholders.

Jyrki tähtinen (b. 1961)

vice Chairman since 1 September 2005. member of the 

Board of directors since 1999. ll.m, mBa, attorney at 

law. President and Ceo of attorneys at law Borenius 

& Kemppinen ltd. Practising law since 1983, his latest 

positions being with attorneys at law Borenius & 

Kemppinen ltd as President and Ceo (1997–) and Partner 

(1991–), and earlier in the employ of other law firms and 

the City of helsinki. member of the Board of directors of 

JSh Capital oy and girasole oy. Chairman of the Board 

of directors of rno finland oy, muoviura oy, dexus oy 

and dexus group. Independent of the company and its 

significant shareholders.

corporate ManaGeMent teaM

Mika Kari (b. 1969)

President & Ceo. m.Sc. (tech.). Serving with the company 

since 1996 and a member of the Corporate management 

team since 1997. President & Ceo of the PKC group  

(1 September 2005–), vice President, wiring harnesses, and 

deputy Ceo (2004–2005), Business development director 

(2001–2004), prior to that worked in quality management.

sami Klemola (b. 1970)

Cfo. m.Sc. (admin.), ll.m. with the company and a 

member of the Corporate management team since 1 may 

2007. Previously Cfo of Polar electro group (2005–2007) 

and group Business Controller (2002–2005), Cfo/financial 

manager/Business Controller of the business unit of Sonera 

oyj (1998–2002), Controller with Keski-Suomen Puhelin oyj 

(1996–1998).

Jarmo rajala (b. 1962)

vice President, electronics. m.Sc. (econ.). Serving with the 

company and a member of the Corporate management 

team since 2005. Business unit director with PKC group 

(2005–2006). Previously Business unit director with Suomen 

3C oy (2005), Sales director with Cybelius Software oy 

(2003–2005), managing director of the hungarian subsidiary 

of tammerneon oy (1998–2003), trade Commissioner with 

finland trade Center Budapest (1997), liaison officer/Project 

manager with vaasa university (1991–1996).

Mika rytky (b. 1971)

vice President, wiring harnesses. m.Sc. (eng.). Serving with 

the company since 2000 and a member of the Corporate 

management team since 2004. Business development 

and Quality director of the PKC group (2004–2006), Sales 

manager (2000–2004). Previously Product manager with 

Control Cad (1999–2000), consultant with Pohto (1995–

1999). member of the Board of directors of obas oy.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT TEAM  
ON DECEMBER 31, 2007
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finland

head office and wiring 

harness factory

pKc Group oyj 

visiting address:

vihikari 10

90440 Kempele, finland

tel. +358 20 1752 111

fax +358 20 1752 211

Postal address:

PKC group oyj

P.o. Box 174

fI-90401 oulu, finland

electronics factory 

pKc electronics oy 

Pajuniityntie 43 

fI-92120 raahe, finland 

tel. +358 8 2103 111 

fax +358 8 2103 201 

testing products

carhatest oy 

tehtaantie 11 

fI-91500 muhos, finland 

tel. +358 8 533 4859 

fax +358 8 533 4869

braZil 

wiring harness factory

pK cables do brasil ltda

rua estrada da graciosa

803 - atuba

82840 - 360 - Curitiba 

- Pr - Brazil

tel. +55 41 2109 9778

fax +55 41 2109 9780

canada 

Sales and administration office 

pKc Group canada inc.

50 ronson drive, Suite 155

toronto, ontario

Canada, m9w 1B3

tel. +1 416 785 6070

fax +1 416 785 6078

china

wiring harness factory

pKc Wiring harness  

(suzhou) co., ltd.

Block t unit 6-10

no. 128 XingPu road

ascendas-Xinsu Square II

Suzhou Industrial Park, 

215126 China

tel. +86 512 6299 0699                   

fax +86 512 6299 0698

electronics factory 

pKc Wiring harness 

(suzhou) co., ltd.

Building 13Cd

Suchun Industrial Square

428 Xinglong Street

Suzhou Industrial Park, 

215024 China

tel. +86 512 6265 2025                     

fax +86 512 6265 2008 

estonia

wiring harness factory

pKc eesti as

Paldiski mnt. 31

76606 Keila, estonia

tel. +372 639 0100

fax +372 674 7432

wiring harness factory

pKc eesti as

tööstuse 9

90506 haapsalu, estonia

tel. +372 47 20 890

fax +372 47 20 880

MeXico 

wiring harness factory

pKc Group Mexico  

s.a. de c.v.

Prolongacion avenida  

hidalgo #10

Parque Industrial  

San Carlos oeste

nogales, Sonora 84094

mexico

tel. +52 631 311 3550 

fax +52 631 311 3557

russia 

wiring harness factory

ooo aeK 

Shosse gornyakov 34

186930, Kostomuksha

republic of Karelia

russian federation

tel./fax + 7 814 59 42 354

electronics factory 

ooo elektrokos

Shosse gornyakov 34

186930, Kostomuksha

republic of Karelia

russian federation

tel./fax + 7 814 59 23 019

wiring harness factory

ooo pKc Group pskov

Pozhigovskaya, 6

180021, Pskov

russian federation

tel. + 7 8112 79 00 00

fax + 7 8112 79 00 50

usa 

Sales office

pKc Group usa inc.

101 South la Canada drive

Suite 38

green valley, arizona 85614

uSa

tel. +1 520 393 8290

fax +1 520 393 8142

www.pkcgroup.com

CONTACT INFORMATION
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